Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc

1. Our opinionis unmodified

Inour opinion:

- Thefinancialstatements of Auto Trader Group plc give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs
as at 31 March 2023, and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

- The Group financial statements have been properly preparedin accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards;

- The Parent Company financial statements have been properly preparedin accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

- The Group and Parent Company financial statements have been preparedin accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What our opinion covers
We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc (‘the Company’) for the year ended
31March 2023 (‘FY23')includedin the Annual Report and Financial Statements, which comprise:

Group (Auto Trader Group plc) Parent Company (Auto Trader Group plc)
Consolidatedincome statement Company balance sheet

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income Company statement of changesin equity

Consolidated balance sheet Notes1to12 to the Parent Company financial statements,

including the accounting policiesin note .

Consolidated statement of changesin equity

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes1to 35to the Group financial statements,
including the accounting policies in note 2.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our auditin accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (‘ISAs (UK)') and applicable law. Our responsibilities
are described below. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtainedis a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. Our audit
opinionand mattersincludedin thisreportare consistent with those discussed and included in our reporting to the Audit Committee (‘AC’).

We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and we remainindependent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to listed publicinterest entities.
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2. Overview of our audit

Factors driving our view of risks

0On 22 June 2022 the Company acquired Autorama UK Limited. The identification and valuation of acquired intangible assetsis anew
significant auditrisk of error and a key audit matter. Thisis due to the material values associated with the acquisition and the nature
of the judgements and estimates which the Group is required to make to identify and fair value the intangible assets acquired.

We have identified a key audit matter relating to revenue recognition over Trade revenue. This is the main driver of the Group’s results
andits sizeis reflectedin the allocation of ourresourcesin planning and executing the audit. Consistent with the prior year, we do not
consider this to be asignificant audit risk of material misstatement, as based on our cumulative audit experience, we have concluded
thatthereis nota materialjudgementor estimationin Trade revenue recognition and no significant opportunity for fraudulent material
misstatement, given the low value and high volume of individual transactions.

We have identified a key audit matter over the recoverability of the parent company’s two investments in subsidiaries (2022: one investment).
The recoverability of the investmentsis not at a highrisk of significant misstatement or subject to significant judgement. However, due toits
materiality in the context of the Parent Company financial statements, thisis the area that had the greatest effect on our overall Parent
Company audit.

Key auditmatters Vs prioryear Item

Identification and valuation + 41
of acquiredintangible assets

Revenue recognition <O 4.2
(Traderevenue)

Parent Company: Recoverability 4+ 4.3
of parentcompany’sinvestments
insubsidiaries

Audit Committee interaction

During the year, the Audit Committee met 4 times. KPMG are invited to attend all Audit Committee meetings and are provided with an
opportunity to meet with the Audit Committee in private sessions without the Executive Directors being present. For each key audit matter,
we have set out communications with the Audit Committee in section 4, including matters thatrequired particular judgement for each.

The mattersincludedin the Audit Committee Chair’'sreport on page 70 are materially consistent with our observations of those meetings.
Ourindependence

We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under,and we remainindependent of the Group in accordance with UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to listed publicinterest entities.

We have not performed any non-audit services during FY23 or subsequently which are prohibited by the FRC Ethical Standard.

We were first appointed as auditor by the shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2017. The period of totaluninterrupted engagementis for
the seven financialyears ended 31 March 2023.

The Group engagement partnerisrequired to rotate every five years. As these are the third set of the Group’s financial statements signed by
David Derbyshire, he will be required to rotate off after the FY25 audit.

The Group engagement partneris also responsible for component audits as set outin section 7 and has had a tenure of three years.

Total audit fee £502,000
Auditrelated fees (including interim review) £48,000
Otherservices £nil
Non-audit fee (excluding interim review) as a percentage of total audit and audit-related fee percentage 0%
Date first appointed 22 September 2016
Uninterrupted audit tenure 7years
Next financial period which requires atender 2027
Tenure of Group engagement partner 3years
Tenure of component signing partner 3years
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

2. Overview of our audit continued

Materiality Materiality levels used in our audit
(Item 6) o
The scope of our work is influenced by our view Group materiality [ £14.00m]
of materiality and our assessed risk of material
misstatement. Group performance materiality m
We have determined overall materiality for the
Group financial statements as awhole at £14.0m Component materiality [ £13.25m]
(FY22:£15.0m).
Consistent with FY22, we determined that profit Parent Company materiality [ =3.00m)
before taxremains the benchmark for the Group.
As such, we based our Group materiality on profit e e oo
before tax of whichitrepresents 4.8% (FY22:5.0%). :

o ) ) ®c0.75m
Materiality for the parent company financial
statements as a whole was set at £13.0m (2022: ® FY23
£6.1m), determined with reference to a benchmark ® FY22

of total assets, limited to be less than materiality
for group materiality as awhole. Itrepresents 0.75%
(2022: 0.5%) of the stated benchmark.

Group scope

(Item7)

We have performed risk assessment and planning procedures to determine which of the Group’s components are likely toinclude
risks of material misstatement to the Group financial statements and the type of procedures to be performed at these components.

Of the Group's 6 (FY22: 5) reporting components, we subjected1(FY22: 3) to a full scope audit for Group purposes. The audit of this
component and the audit of the parent company was performed by the Group team.

In addition, we have performed Group level analysis on the remaining components to determine whether further risks of material
misstatement existin those components.

We consider the scope of our audit, as communicated to the Audit Committee, to be an appropriate basis for our audit opinion.

Coverage of Group financial statements

Profitbefore tax Total assets Revenue
4% 4% 7%
96% 96% 93%

@ Fullscope audits
@® Remainingcomponents

Theimpact of climate change on our audit

In planning our audit, we have considered the potentialimpact of risks arising from climate change on the Group’s business andits Financial
Statements. The Group has set outits commitments under the Paris Agreement to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2040. Further information
isprovidedinthe Group’s Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (‘TCFD’) recommended disclosures on pages 30 to 37.

As apartof ouraudit we have performed arisk assessment, including making enquiries of management, reading board meeting minutes
and applying our knowledge of the Group and sectorin whichit operates to understand the extent of the potentialimpact of climate change
risk onthe Group’s Financial Statements. Taking into account the nature of the business and the limited impact of climate change on the
assumptionsinimpairment testing, we have not assessed climate related risk to be significant to our audit this year. There was noimpact
onourkey audit matters.

We have read the Group’s TCFD in the front half of the annual report and considered consistency with the Financial Statements and our audit
knowledge. We have notbeen engaged to provide assurance over the accuracy of the climate risk disclosures set out on pages 30 to 37
inthe AnnualReport.
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3. Going concern, viability and principal risks and uncertainties

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do notintend to liquidate the Group or the Parent
Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that, the Group’s and the Parent Company’s financial position means
thatthisisrealistic. They have also concluded that there are no materialuncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their
ability to continue as a going concern for at least ayear from the date of approval of the financial statements (‘the going concern period’).

Going concern

We used our knowledge of the Group, itsindustry, and the general economic environment to identify the inherent risks toits business
modeland analysed how those risks might affect the Group’s and Company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over
the going concern period. The risks that we considered most likely to adversely affect the Group’s and Company’s available financial
resources over this period were lower than forecast revenues arising from reduced customer demand in the automotive market. We also
considered less predictable butrealistic second orderimpacts, such as the erosion of customer confidence, which could resultin arapid
reduction of available financialresources.

We considered whether these risks could plausibly affect the Group's liquidity or covenant compliance in the going concern period by
assessing the degree of downside assumptions that, individually and collectively, could resultin aliquidity shortfall, taking into account
the Group’s current and projected cash and borrowing facilities (a reverse stress test). We also assessed the completeness of the going
concerndisclosure.

Accordingly, based on those procedures, we found the directors’ use of the going concern basis of preparation without any material
uncertainty for the Group and Parent Company to be acceptable. However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and
as subsequentevents mayresultin outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made,
the above conclusions are not a guarantee that the Group or the Parent Company will continue in operation.

Our conclusions

+ We consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accountingin the preparation of the financial statementsis appropriate;
+ We have notidentified,and concur with the directors’ assessment that thereis not,a materialuncertainty related to events or conditions
that,individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for the
going concern period;

We have nothing material to add or draw attention toinrelation to the directors’ statementinnote1to the financial statements on the use
of the going concern basis of accounting with no materialuncertainties that may cast significantdoubt over the Group and Company'’s
use of that basis for the going concern period, and we found the going concern disclosure in note 1to be acceptable; and

Therelated statementunder the Listing Rules set out on page 57 is materially consistent with the financial statements and our
auditknowledge.

Disclosures of emerging and principal risks and longer-term viability

Our responsibility

We are required to perform procedures to identify whether there is a materialinconsistency between the directors’ disclosuresinrespect
of emerging and principalrisks and the viability statement, and the financial statements and our audit knowledge.

Based on those procedures, we have nothing material to add or draw attention toinrelation to:

+ The Directors’ confirmation within the viability statement on page 57 that they have carried out arobust assessment of the emerging
and principalrisks facing the Group, including those that would threatenits business model, future performance, solvency and liquidity;
The principalrisks and uncertainties disclosures describing these risks and how emerging risks are identified and explaining how they
are beingmanaged and mitigated; and

The Directors’ explanationin the viability statement of how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period they have
done soand why they considered that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have areasonable expectation
that the Group willbe able to continue in operation and meetitsliabilities as they falldue over the period of their assessment, including any
related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We are alsorequired to review the viability statement set out on page 57 under the Listing Rules.

Ourworkislimited to assessing these mattersin the context of only the knowledge acquired during our financial statements audit.

As we cannot predictall future events or conditions and as subsequent events may resultin outcomes thatare inconsistent withjudgements
that werereasonable at the time they were made, the absence of anything to report on these statementsis not a guarantee asto the
Group’s and Parent Company’s longer-term viability.

Ourreporting
We have nothing material to add or draw attention toinrelation to these disclosures.

We have concluded that these disclosures are materially consistent with the financial statements and our audit knowledge.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

4. Key audit matters

What we mean

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements
andinclude the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those

which had the greatest effecton:

- Theoverall audit strategy;
- The allocation of resourcesin the audit; and
- Directing the efforts of the engagement team.

We include below the key audit matters in decreasing order of audit significance together with our key audit procedures to address
those matters and our results from those procedures. These matters were addressed, and our results are based on procedures
undertaken, for the purpose of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. We do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

4.1ldentification and valuation of acquiredintangible assets (Group)

Financial statement elements Our assessment of risk

Ourresults

FY23
Acquiredintangibles £66.5m

+ Thisisanewriskin FY23 as aresult of the Group’s
acquisition of Autorama UK Limited on 22 June 2022.

FY23: Acceptable

Description of the key audit matter

Ourresponse to therisk

Subjective estimate
On 22 June 2022 Auto Trader Group plc acquired Autorama UK Limited.

The complete identification and valuation of acquired intangible
assetsis anew significant auditrisk of error and a key audit matter.
Thisis due to the material values associated with the business
combination: the judgements relating to the complete identification
of intangible assets acquired separate from goodwill; and the
estimates which the Groupis required to make to assess the fair
value of those intangible assets which are separately identified.

Estimationisrequiredin making assumptionsrelating to the fairvalue
of eachintangible asset, including: useful economic life; the discount
rate, and, for the brandintangible asset, the rate of obsolescence
and the transaction volumes usedin forecasting future revenue.

The effect of these mattersis that, as part of our risk assessment
for audit planning purposes, we determined that the fair value of
separateintangible assets acquired of £66.5m had a high degree
of judgement and estimation uncertainty, with a potential range of
reasonable outcomes greater than our materiality for the financial
statementsasawhole.

In conducting our final audit work, we concluded that reasonably
possible changes to the fair value of the brand intangible asset
only had a potentialrange of reasonable outcomes greater than
our materiality for the financial statements as awhole.

The financial statements (note 31) disclose sensitivity factors
estimated by the Group.

Due to the nature of the balance, we expect to obtain audit evidence
primarily through the procedures described below, rather than
seeking torely on any of the Group’s controls.

Our procedures to address the riskincluded:

- Oursectorexperience: with the assistance of our valuation
specialists, assessing the completeness of intangible assets
identified, based on our experience of similar acquisitions,
including whether separate intangible assets arose from supplier
relationships (original equipment manufacturers and funders).

- Methodology choice: with the assistance of our valuation specialists,

assessing that the valuation methodologies used were inaccordance

withrelevantaccounting standards and acceptable valuation practice.

Benchmarking assumptions: with the assistance of our valuation

specialists, challenging the key valuation assumptions, such as

the brand usefuleconomicllife, the brand obsolescence rate and
the discountrate, by comparing them to externally derived data
and comparable transactions.

- Benchmarking assumptions: comparing the transaction volumes

usedinthe brand valuation revenue assumption to market

forecastsrelating to growthin motor vehicle leasing and electric
vehicle adoption.

Test of detail: We compared the costdata usedin the technology

assetvaluationto the related historic accounting records.

Sensitivity analysis: performing sensitivity analysis on the key

assumptions noted above.

Assessing transparency: assessing the sufficiency of the Group's

disclosuresinrespect of the critical accounting judgment over

identification of intangible assets acquired and the critical
accounting estimates relating to the valuation of separately
identifiable intangible assets and the residual goodwill.

Communications with Auto Trader Group plc’s Audit Committee

Our discussions with and reporting to the Audit Committee included:

- Whether supplierrelationships (original equipment manufacturers and funders) represent a separately identifiable intangible asset.
- Ourapproach and conclusion on the appropriateness of valuation methodology; the key assumptions used in the valuation; and the

adequacy of financial statement disclosures.

Areas of particular auditorjudgement

We identified the following as the areas of particular auditor judgement:

- Determination of whether supplier relationships (OEMs, funders andinsurers) represent a separately identifiable intangible asset.
- Evaluation of reasonably possible changes to the fair value of the brand intangible asset which had a potentialrange of reasonable
outcomes greater than our materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

Ourresults

We found the Group’s complete identification and fair valuation of intangible assets acquired in Autorama UK Limited to be acceptable.

Furtherinformationin the AnnualReportand Accounts: See the Report of the Audit Committee onpage 70 for details on how the Audit Committee
considered acquisition accounting as an area of significant attention, page 120 for the accounting policy on Business Combinations, and note 31
for the financial disclosures on page 148.
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4.2 Revenue recognition (Trade revenue) (Group)

Financial statement elements

Our assessment of risk vs FY22

Ourresults

FY23
£427.4m

FY22

Traderevenue £388.3m

4 Ourassessmentisthat theriskis similarto FY22,
reflecting how the majority of the Group’s revenue

FY23: Acceptable
FY22: Acceptable

processingis performed andrecognisedona
consistentbasisinbothyears.

Description of the key audit matter

Ourresponse to therisk

Data processing error

Trade revenue primarily consists of fees for advertising on the
Group's website and related data and access services. There are
ahighvolume of transactions, no significant concentration of
customers and avariety of set packages. Retailers have the ability
to selectthe combination of products theyreceive.

Based on our cumulative audit experience, we have concluded
thatthereis not a materialjudgement or estimationin Trade
revenue recognition and no significant opportunity for fraudulent
material misstatement, given the low value and high volume of
individual transactions.

We continue to consider Trade revenue recognition to be a key
audit matter asitis the main driver of the Group’s results and its
sizeisreflectedinthe allocation of ourresourcesin planning and
executing the audit.

We performed the tests below rather thanseeking torely
significantly on the Group's controls, other than bankreconciliations,
because the nature of the Group’s Trade revenue is such that we
were able to obtain sufficient audit evidence through substantive
audit procedures.

Our procedures to address the riskincluded:

Controldesignand operation: testing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of bank
reconciliation controls, to provide evidence over reliability

of cashdatausedinour tests of detail.

Accounting analysis: inspecting contractual terms, including
modifications agreedin the year, toidentify performance
obligations and determine the timing of revenue recognition.
Data comparisons: using computer assisted audit techniques
tomatch salesinformation from the billing system to the
accountingrecords.

Tests of detail: using computer assisted audit techniques
tomatch the entire population of Trade sales transactions
recordedin the accounts to the billing system and from

the billing system to cashreceived and Trade receivables
(including accruedincome) outstanding at the year end.

Tests of detail: inspecting the level of credit notes raised
during the year and after the year end to assess the adequacy
of the credit note provision and to confirm that Trade revenue
recognisedinthe yearis notreversed subsequenttoyearend.
Tests of detail: using sampling techniques and substantive
analytical procedures to test that Trade revenue accruedincome
(being uninvoiced Trade receivables) has been earnedinthe year
andis accurately and completely recorded.

Communications with Auto Trader Group plc’s Audit Committee

Our discussions with and reporting to the Audit Committee included:

+ Reporting of the findings from our computer assisted audit techniques, which matched sales transactions between the accounts,
the billing system, and cashreceived and trade receivables outstanding at year end.

Areas of particular auditorjudgement
We identified no areas of particular auditor judgement.

Ourresults

We considered the amount of Trade revenue recognisedin the year to be acceptable (2022: acceptable).

Furtherinformationinthe AnnualReportand Accounts: See the Report of the Audit Committee on page 70 for details on how the Audit Committee
consideredrevenue recognition as an area of significant attention, pages 115 to 117 for the accounting policy on Revenue, and note 5 for

the financial disclosures on page 124.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

4. Key audit matters continued

4.3 Recoverability of parent company’s investmentin subsidiaries (parent company)

Financialstatement elements Ourassessment of risk Ourresults
FY23 FY22 N Ourassessmentisthattheriskisincreased on FY22 FY23: Acceptable
IVESTRERE R £1228.4m  £1224.9m as aresult of the additionalinvestmentinthe yearin FY22: Acceptable

Auto Trader Autorama UK Limited.

Holding Limited

Investment £198.8m  g£nil

in Autorama

UK Limited

Description of the key audit matter Ourresponse to the risk

Low risk, high value We performed the tests below rather than seeking torely on any
The carryingamount of the Parent Company’s investmentsin of the company’s controls because the nature of the balance is
subsidiariesrepresents 81% (FY22: 71%) of the Parent Company'’s such that we would expect to obtain audit evidence primarily

totalassets. Theincrease in the balance since 31 March 2022 reflects  through the detailed procedures described.
anew investment of £198.8min Autorama UK Limited which has
beenmadeinthe currentfinancialyear. The balance of £1,228.4m
relates to the core Auto Trader Holding Limited subsidiary.

Our procedures to address theriskincluded:

Assessing methodology: Assessing the Group’s identification

of whether there are any qualitative or quantitative impairment
indicatorsinrespect of the investments held.

- Compare valuations: Comparing the aggregate carrying amount
of the investments to the market capitalisation of the Group,
asatestforanindication of impairment.

Tests of detail: Comparing the carrying amount of each investment
with the net assets of the relevant subsidiary included within
the Group consolidation, toidentify whether the net asset value,
being an approximation of its minimum recoverable amount,
wasinexcess of its carrying amount and assessing whether the
subsidiary has historically been profit-making

Our sector experience: Evaluating the current level of trading,
includingidentifying any indications of achange in expected
activity, by examining the post year end management accounts
and considering our knowledge of the Group and the market.
Benchmarking assumptions: For the investments where the
carryingamount exceeded the net asset value, comparing the
assumptionsusedintheinvestment’s budgeted cash flows with
our knowledge of the subsidiary and the marketsin which the
subsidiaries operate.

The recoverability of the investmentsis not at a high risk of significant
misstatement or subject to significantjudgement. However, due toits

materiality in the context of the Parent Company financial statements,
thisis consideredto be the areathathad the greatest effect onour

overall Parent Company audit.

Communications with Auto Trader Group plc’s Audit Committee
Our discussions with and reporting to the Audit Committee included:

- Discussion of growth assumptions within the forecast cash flows relating to Autorama UK Limited.

Areas of particular auditor judgement
We identified the following as the areas of particular auditor judgement:

- Weidentified no areas of particular auditor judgement.

Ourresults
We found the carrying amount of the investmentin subsidiaries to be acceptable (2022: acceptable).
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5. Our ability to detectirregularities, and our response

Fraud: identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

Fraudrisk
assessment

Toidentify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (‘fraud risks’) we assessed events or conditions that could
indicate anincentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment
proceduresincluded:

Enquiring of directors, the Audit Committee, internal audit and the company secretary and inspection of policy
documentation as to the Group's high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the
outsourcedinternal audit function, and the Group’s channel for ‘whistleblowing’, as well as whether they have
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

Reading Board and other committee meeting minutes;

Consideringremunerationincentive schemes and performance targets formanagement and directors,
including the Group’s share based incentive schemes;

Using analytical procedures toidentify any unusual or unexpected relationships; and

Consultation with our own forensic professionalregarding our fraud risk assessment and the identified fraud risk.

Risk
communications

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud
throughout the audit.

Fraudrisks

Asrequired by auditing standards and our overall knowledge of the controlenvironment, we perform procedures
toaddress therisk of management override of controls, in particular the risk that Group managementmay bein
apositionto makeinappropriate accounting entries. On this audit we do not believe there is afraudrisk related to
revenue recognition because thereisno materialjudgement or estimationin revenue recognition and no significant
opportunity for fraudulent material misstatement, given the low value and high volume of individual transactions.

We did notidentify any additional fraud risks.

Procedures to
address fraud risks

We performed proceduresincluding:

Identifying journalentries to test for all full scope components based onrisk criteria and comparing the
identified entries to supporting documentation. These included those posted to unexpected accounts and
those posted with unusual descriptions.

Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias.

Laws and regulations: identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement relating to compliance with laws and regulations

Laws and We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on
regulations risk the financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience and through discussion with the
assessment directors and other management (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the directors and other
management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.
As the Groupis regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the control environment
including the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory requirements.
Risk We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications

communications

of non-compliance throughout the audit.

Direct laws context
and link to audit

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Groupis subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statementsincluding
financialreporting legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation, taxation
legislation, and pensions legislationinrespect of defined benefit pension schemes and we assessed the extent
of compliance with these laws andregulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statementitems.

Most significant
indirect law/
regulation areas

Secondly, the Groupis subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have amaterialeffectonamounts or disclosuresin the financial statements, forinstance through the imposition
of fines or litigation. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: General Data
Protection Regulation, FCA compliance, competition law, employment law, anti-bribery and anti-corruption,
money laundering legislation and certain aspects of company legislation recognising the regulated nature

of the Group’s activities andits legal form.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations
toenquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.
Therefore if abreach of operationalregulationsis not disclosed to us or evident fromrelevant correspondence,
anauditwillnotdetect thatbreach.

Context

Context of the Owingtotheinherentlimitations of an audit, there is anunavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
ability of the audit material misstatementsin the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our
todetect fraud or auditin accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
breaches of law regulationsis from the events and transactionsreflectedin the financial statements, the less likely the inherently

orregulation

limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these mayinvolve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are
designed to detect material misstatement. We are notresponsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and
cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with alllaws and regulations.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

6. Our determination of materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set quantitative thresholds and overlay qualitative
considerations to help us determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our procedures, and in evaluating
the effect of misstatements, both individually andin the aggregate, on the financial statements asawhole.

Materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole: £14.0m (FY22: £15.0m)
What we mean
A quantitative reference for the purpose of planning and performing our audit.

Basis for determining materiality and judgements applied
Materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set at £14.0m (FY22: £15.0m). This was determined with reference
to abenchmark of profit before tax.

Consistent with FY22, we determined that profit before tax remains the main benchmark for the Group asitis the metricin the primary
statements which best reflects the focus of the financial statements’ users.

Our Group materiality of £14.0m was determined by applying a percentage to profit before tax. When using a benchmark of profit before
tax to determine overall materiality, KPMG's approach for listed entities considers a guideline range of 3% - 5% of the measure. In setting
overall Group materiality, we applied a percentage of 4.8% (FY22: 5.0%) to the benchmark.

Materiality for the Parent Company financial statements as a whole was set at £13.0m (FY22: £6.1m), determined with reference to a
benchmark of Parent Company total assets, of whichitrepresents 0.75% (FY22: 0.5%). We increased Parent Company materiality during
our final audit from £7.0m set at planning to £13.0m to better reflect the risk profile of this entity, whilst still limiting materiality to be less
thanthat for Group materiality as awhole.

Performance materiality: £10.5m (FY22: £11.3m)

What we mean

Our procedures onindividualaccount balances and disclosures were performed to alower threshold, performance materiality, so as
toreduce toanacceptable level the risk thatindividuallyimmaterial misstatementsinindividual account balances add up to a material
amount across the financial statements as a whole.

Basis for determining performance materiality and judgements applied
We have considered performance materiality at alevel of 75% (FY22: 75%) of materiality for Auto Trader Group plc’'s financial statements
asawhole to be appropriate.

The Parent Company performance materiality was set at £9.8m (FY22: £4.6m), which equates to 75% (FY22: 75%) of materiality for the
Parent Company financial statements as awhole.

We applied this percentage in our determination of performance materiality because we did not identify any factors indicating an
elevated level of risk.

Audit misstatement posting threshold: £0.7m (FY22: £0.8m)

What we mean

Thisis the amount below whichidentified misstatements are considered to be clearly trivial from a quantitative point of view. We may
become aware of misstatements below this threshold which could alter the nature, timing and scope of our audit procedures, forexample
if we identify smaller misstatements which are indicators of fraud.

Thisis also the amount above which all misstatements identified are communicated to Auto Trader Group plc’s Audit Committee.
Basis for determining the audit misstatement posting threshold and judgements applied
We set our audit misstatement posting threshold at 5% (FY22: 5%) of our materiality for the Group financial statements. We also report

to the Audit Committee any otheridentified misstatements that warrantreporting on qualitative grounds.

The overall materiality for the Group financial statements of £14.0m (FY22: £15.0m) compares as follows to the main financial statement
captionamounts:

Total Group revenue Group profitbefore tax Total Group assets

FY23 FY22 FY23 FY22 FY23 FY22

Financial statement £500.2m £432.7m £293.6m £301.0m £662.7m £542.9m
caption

Group materiality 2.8% 3.5% 4.8% 5.0% 2.1% 2.8%

as % of caption
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7. The scope of our audit

Group scope
What we mean
How the Group audit team determined the procedures to be performed across the Group.

Of the Group's 6 (FY22: 5) reporting components, we subjected1(FY22: 3) to a full scope audit for Group purposes. The audit of thiscomponent
and the audit of the parent company was performed by the Group team.

Scope Number of components Materiality applied

Full scope audit 1 £13.3m

In addition, we have performed Group level analysis on the remaining components to determine whether furtherrisks of material
misstatement existinthose components.

The scope of the audit work performed was fully substantive as we did not rely upon the Group’s internal control over financialreporting.
8. Otherinformationin the Annual Report

The Directors areresponsible for the otherinformation presentedin the AnnualReport together with the financial statements. Our opinion
onthe financial statements does not cover the otherinformation and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly
stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

All otherinformation

Our responsibility

Ourresponsibility is toread the otherinformation and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the information
thereinis materially misstated orinconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge.

Ourreporting
Based solely onthat work we have notidentified material misstatements orinconsistenciesin the otherinformation.

Strategic report and Directors’ report
Our responsibility and reporting
Based solely on our work on the otherinformation described above we report to you as follows:

- We have notidentified material misstatementsin the strategic report and the directors’ report;
« Inouropiniontheinformation givenin those reports for the financial yearis consistent with the financial statements; and
+ Inouropinionthose reports have been preparedin accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ remunerationreport

Our responsibility

We are required to form an opinion as to whether the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly
preparedinaccordance withthe Companies Act 2006.

Ourreporting
Inour opinionthe part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly preparedin accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

Corporate governance disclosures

Our responsibility

We arerequired to perform procedures to identify whether there is a materialinconsistency between the financial statements and
our auditknowledge, and:

« Thedirectors’ statement that they consider that the annualreport and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced
andunderstandable, and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s position and performance,
business modeland strategy;

+ The section of the annualreportdescribing the work of the Audit Committee, including the significantissues that the Audit Committee

consideredinrelation to the financial statements, and how these issues were addressed; and

The section of the annualreport that describes the review of the effectiveness of the Group’s riskmanagement and internal

controlsystems.

Ourreporting
Based on those procedures, we have concluded that each of these disclosuresis materially consistent with the financial statements
and our audit knowledge.

We are alsorequired toreview the part of the Corporate Governance Statementrelating to the Group’s compliance with the provisions
of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified by the Listing Rules for our review.

We have nothing toreportin thisrespect.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

8. Otherinformationin the Annual Report continued

Other matters on which we arerequired to report by exception
Ourresponsibility
Underthe Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to youiif,in our opinion:

- Adequate accountingrecords have notbeenkept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audithave not beenreceived
from branches not visited by us; or

- The Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are notin agreement with
the accountingrecords andreturns; or

« Certaindisclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

- We have notreceived all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Ourreporting
We have nothing toreportin these respects.

9. Respective responsibilities

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 94, the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements
including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and Parent Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, mattersrelated to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they eitherintend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have norealistic alternative
buttodoso.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtainreasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,and to issue our opinionin an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, butdoes notguarantee that an auditconducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materialif, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Afuller description of our responsibilitiesis provided on the FRC's website at frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The Company isrequired toinclude these financial statementsin an annual financialreport prepared using the single electronic
reporting format specified in the TD ESEF Regulation. This auditor'sreport provides no assurance over whether the annual financial
reporthas been preparedinaccordance with that format.

10. The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Thisreportis made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.

Our audit work has beenundertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to themin
anauditor’'sreportand forno other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
otherthanthe Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for thisreport, or for the opinions we have formed.

David Derbyshire (Senior Statutory Auditor)
forand onbehalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1St Peter's Square

Manchester

M2 3AE

1June 2023
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Consolidated income statement Strategic report Governance Financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023
2023 2022
Note £m £m
Revenue 5 500.2 432.7
Operating costs 4 (225.1) (132.0)
Share of profit from joint ventures, net of tax 16 2.5 2.9
Operating profit 6 277.6 303.6
Net finance costs 9 (3.1) (2.6)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 10 19.1 =
Profit before taxation 293.6 301.0
Taxation 11 (59.7) (56.3)
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 233.9 244.7
Basic earnings per share (pence) 12 25.01 25.61
Diluted earnings per share (pence) 12 24.77 25.56
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
Note £m £m
Profit for the year 233.9 244.7
Other comprehensiveincome
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (0.3) 0.2
Realisation of cumulative currency translation differences 0.4 -
0.1 0.2
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations, net of tax 25 (0.4) 0.2
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (0.3) 0.4
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 233.6 2451
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At 31 March 2023

2023 2022
Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 501.0 355.6
Property, plant and equipment 14 15.9 14.7
Deferred taxation assets 24 - 1.4
Retirement benefit surplus 25 0.5 3.7
Netinvestmentsinjointventures 16 49.3 49.7
Otherinvestments 17 2.3 =
569.0 4251
Current assets
Inventory 19 3.6 =
Trade and otherreceivables 18 729 65.9
Currentincome tax assets 0.6 0.6
Cash and cash equivalents 20 16.6 51.3
93.7 17.8
Totalassets 662.7 542.9
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital 26 9.3 9.5
Share premium 182.6 182.6
Retained earnings 1,390.3 1,332.4
Own shares held 27 (26.0) (22.4)
Capitalreorganisationreserve (1,060.8) (1,060.8)
Capitalredemptionreserve 1.2 1.0
Otherreserves 30.7 30.2
Total equity 527.3 472.5
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 22 57.5 =
Provisions 23 1.3 1.3
Lease liabilities 15 4.6 6.5
Deferredincome 5 8.3 8.9
Deferred taxation liabilities 24 5.8 =
77.5 16.7
Currentliabilities
Trade and other payables 21 53.6 42.0
Provisions 23 0.7 0.7
Lease liabilities 15 2.5 3.0
Borrowings 22 1.1 =
Deferred consideration - 8.0
57.9 53.7
Totalliabilities 135.4 70.4
Total equity and liabilities 662.7 542.9

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directorson1June 2023 and authorised forissue:

Jamie Warner

Chief Financial Officer

Auto Trader Group plc
Registered number: 09439967
1June 2023
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Capital Capital
Share Share  Retained Ownshares reorganisation redemption Other Total
capital premium earnings held reserve reserve reserves equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 31 March 2021 9.7 182.4 1,307.3 (10.7) (1,060.8) 0.8 30.0 458.7
Profit for the year - - 244.7 = - = = 244.7
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences - - - = = = 0.2 0.2
Remeasurements of post-employment
benefit obligations, net of tax 25 = = 0.2 = = = = 0.2
Totalcomprehensive income, net of tax - - 2449 - - - 0.2 2451
Transactions with owners
Employee share schemes -
value of employee services 30 - - 5.1 - - - - 5.1
Exercise of employee share schemes - - (4.8) 6.0 - = = 1.2
Transfer of shares from ESOT 27 = = (0.1) 0.1 = = = =
Taximpact of employee share schemes - = 0.1 = = = = 0.1
Purchase of ownshares for treasury - - - (17.8) - - - (17.8)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation (0.2) - (146.5) - - 0.2 - (146.5)
Issue of ordinary shares 26 = 0.2 = = = = = 0.2
Dividends paid - - (73.6) - - - = (73.6)
Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity (0.2) 0.2 (219.8) (11.7) - 0.2 - (231.3)
Balance at 31 March 2022 9.5 182.6 1,332.4 (22.4) (1,060.8) 1.0 30.2 472.5
Profit forthe year = = 233.9 = = = = 233.9
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences - - - - - - (0.3) (0.3)
Realisation of cumulative currency
translation differences - - - = = = 0.4 0.4
Remeasurements of post-employment
benefit obligations, net of tax 25 - - (0.4) - - = = (0.4)
Totalcomprehensive income, net of tax - - 233.5 - - - 0.1 233.6
Transactions with owners
Employee share schemes -
value of employee services 30 - - 44.6 - - - - 44.6
Exercise of employee share schemes = = (3.6) 5.1 = = 0.4 1.9
Taximpact of employee share schemes - — 0.4 — = — = 0.4
Purchase of own shares for treasury - - - (8.7) - - - (8.7)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation (0.2) - (139.3) - - 0.2 - (139.3)
Dividends paid = = (77.7) = = = = (77.7)
Totaltransactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity (0.2) - (175.6) (3.6) - 0.2 0.4 (178.8)
Balance at 31 March 2023 9.3 182.6 1,390.3 (26.0) (1,060.8) 1.2 30.7 527.3
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Consolidated statement of cash flows Strategic report Governance Financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
Note £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 29 327.4 3281
Income taxes paid (60.5) (56.2)
Net cash generated from operating activities 266.9 271.9

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of intangible assets (1.0) -
Purchases of property, plantand equipment (2.4) (2.8)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1.8 =
Dividendsreceived fromjoint ventures 16 2.9 7.8
Payment for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 31 (144.2) -
Payment of deferred consideration for acquisition of subsidiary 31 (8.1) =
Payment for acquisition of sharesininvestment entities (1.3) =
Proceeds ondisposal of subsidiary, net of cash disposed 10 25.6 =
Net cash usedininvesting activities (126.7) 5.0

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders 28 (77.7) (73.6)
Drawdown of Syndicated revolving credit facility 22 110.0 =
Repayment of Syndicated revolving credit facility 22 (50.0) (30.0)
Repayment of other debt 33 (4.0) -
Proceeds fromloan 58 1.1 =
Paymentof refinancing fees 22 (1.4) =
Payment of interest on borrowings 3%} (3.0) (1.5)
Payment of lease liabilities 15 (2.9) (3.2)
Purchase of ownshares for cancellation 26 (138.6) (145.8)
Purchase of ownshares for treasury 27 (8.7) (17.7)
Payment of fees on purchase of own shares (0.7) (0.8)
Contributions to defined benefit pension scheme 25 (1.0) (0.1)
Proceeds from exercise of share-basedincentives 2.0 1.4
Net cash usedin financing activities (174.9) (271.3)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (34.7) 5.6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 20 51.3 45.7
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 16.6 51.3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Generalinformation

Auto Trader Group plcis apublic limited company whichis listed on the London Stock Exchange and is domiciled and incorporatedin

the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The Consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended
31March 2023 comprise the Company anditsinterestin subsidiaries (togetherreferred to as ‘the Group’). The Group’s principal business
isthe operation of the Auto Trader platforms which form the UK's largest automotive marketplace.

The Consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 March 2023 are available uponrequest to the
Company Secretary fromthe Company’s registered office at 4" Floor,1 Tony Wilson Place, Manchester, M15 4FN or are available on
the corporate website at plc.autotrader.co.uk.

Basis of preparation
The Consolidated financial statements have been preparedin accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and
inaccordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.

The Consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and under the historical cost convention,
except forequity investments which are carried at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency
The Consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling (£), which is the Group’s presentation currency, and rounded to the
nearest hundred thousand (£0.1m) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Control exists when the Group has existing rights that give it the ability to
direct the relevant activities of an entity and has the ability to affect the returns the Group will receive as aresult of its involvement with
the entity. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are takeninto account. The financial
statements of subsidiaries areincluded in the Consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accountingis used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisitionis
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instrumentsissued, and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.
Costsdirectly attributable to the acquisition are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
inabusiness combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling
interest. The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interestin the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interestin the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquiredis recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured s less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of abargain purchase, the differenceisrecognised directly in the income statement.

When the Group disposes of asubsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary. Any resulting gain or lossis recognised
intheincome statement.

Intercompany transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation.

Ajointarrangementis an arrangement over which the Group and one or more third parties have jointcontrol. These jointarrangements
areinturn classified as: joint ventures whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather thanrights toits assets
and obligations forits liabilities; and joint operations whereby the Group hasrights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating
tothe arrangement.

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significantinfluence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Where significantinfluence is not demonstrated but the shareholding is between 20% and
50%,the Group would account foritsinterest as aninvestment. Allinvestments are initially recognised at cost and the carrying value
isreviewed forimpairment.

Going concern

During the year ended 31 March 2023 the Group has continued to generate significant cash from operations. The Group has an overall
positive netasset position and had cash balances of £16.6m at 31 March 2023 (2022: £51.3m). During the year £225.0m was returned to
shareholders through share buybacks and dividends (2022: £237.1m).

The Group has access to a Syndicated revolving credit facility (the ‘Syndicated RCF’). At 31 March 2023 the Group had £60.0m (2022: nil)
drawn of its £200.0m Syndicated RCF. The £200.0m Syndicated RCFis committed through to maturity in February 2028.

Cash flow projections for a period of not less than12 months from the date of thisreport have been prepared. Stress case scenarios
have been modelled to make the assessment of going concern, taking into account severe but plausible potentialimpacts of a severe
economic downturn and a data breach within the next12 months. The results of the stress testing demonstrated that due to the Group's
significant free cash flow, access to the Syndicated RCF and the Board'’s ability to adjust the discretionary share buyback programme,
the Group would be able to withstand the impact and remain cash generative. Subsequent to the year end, the Group has generated
cash flowsinline withits forecast and there are no events that have adversely impacted the Group's liquidity.

The Directors, after making enquiries and on the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, believe that the Group
has adequate financialresources to continue in operation for a period not less than 12 months from the date of thisreport. For this
reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basisin preparing the financial statements.
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Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with UK-adopted international accounting standards requires the use of certain
accounting estimates and assumptions. It also requires management to exercise its judgementin the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Managementbelieve that the estimates and assumptions listed below were significantin the preparation of the Consolidated balance
sheet at the financialyear end.

Acquisition accounting (judgement and estimate)

The Group acquired Autorama UK Limited (‘Autorama’) in the year. Business combination accounting has been adoptedin line with the
accounting policyinnote 2. Judgement was required to determine the acquired intangible assets to be separately identified, as described
innote 31.In particular, it was concluded that supplier relationships with funders and car manufacturers did not meet the criteria for
recognition as separate intangible assets and their value would form part of the goodwill arising on acquisition. For those acquired
intangible assets which are separately identified, principally the Vanarama brand, estimation was then required to determine the
appropriate methodology, assumptions and data to measure their fair value at the acquisition date.

Asalsodisclosedinnote 31, the purchase of Autorama gave rise to adeferred paymentin shares of £50.0m, with payment contingent
onpost-acquisitionemployment and service conditions. This element of consideration payable has been determined to be a post-acquisition
income statement expense over the period of service, in accordance with IFRS 3. There is no significant estimate relating to the contingency,
which expiresin June 2023.

There are no accounting estimates or judgements at the financial year end which have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Other accounting estimates and judgements include:

Carrying values of goodwill (judgement and estimate)

The Group tests annually whether goodwill, held by the Group orits joint venture, has suffered any impairmentin accordance with the
accounting policy stated within note 2. Judgementisrequiredin the identification and allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units
and the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units require the use of estimates (note 13).

2. Significant accounting policies

Changesinssignificant accounting policies
New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The following amendments to standards have been adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning on1April 2022:

« Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)

« Annualimprovements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020

+ Property, Plantand Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)
- Referencetothe Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3)

The adoption of these amendments has had no material effect on the Group’s Consolidated financial statements.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective
There are anumber of amendments to IFRS that have beenissued by the IASB that, when endorsedin the UK, will become effective
inasubsequent accounting periodincluding:

- IFRS17 Insurance Contracts

« Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS1and IFRS Practice Statement 2)

+ Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8)

- Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes)

- Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS1)

+ Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS10 and IAS 28)

The Group has evaluated these changes and none are expected to have a materialimpact onthe Consolidated financial statements.

Existing significant accounting policies
The following accounting policies applied by the Group have been applied consistently to all periods presentedin the Consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue
Revenueis measured based on the consideration specifiedin a contract with a customer andisrecognised when a customer obtains
control of the services. Revenueis stated net of discounts, rebates, refunds and value-added tax.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2. Significant accounting policies continued

Revenue principally represents the amounts receivable from customers for advertising on the Group’s platforms but alsoincludes
non-advertising services such as vehicle leasing transactions and data services. The different types of products and services of fered
to customers along with the nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations are set out as follows:

(i) Trade revenue
Traderevenue comprises fees fromretailers, Home Traders and logistics customers for advertising on the Group's platforms and utilising
the Group's services.

Retailer revenue

Retailer customers pay a monthly subscription fee to advertise their stock onthe Group’s platforms. Controlis obtained by customers
across thelife of the contract as their stockis continually listed. Contracts for these services are agreed at aretailer or retailer group
leveland are ongoing subject to a 30-day notice period. Revenue isinvoiced monthly in arrears.

Retailers have the option to enhance their presence on the platform through additional products, each of which has a distinct
performance obligation. For products that provide enhanced exposure across the life of the product, controlis passed to the customer
over time. Revenueis only recognised at a pointin time for additional advertising products where the customer does not receive the
benefituntilthey choose to apply the product. Additional advertising products are principally billed on a monthly subscription basisin
line with their core advertising package, however certain products are billed on anindividual charge basis. The Group also generates
revenue fromretailers for data and valuation services under avariety of contractualarrangements, with each service being a separate
performance obligation. Controlis obtained by customers either across the life of the contract where customers are licensed to use the
Group’'s services oratapointintime when a one-off dataserviceis provided.

Contract modifications occur on aregular basis as customers change their stock levels or add or remove additional advertising products
from their contracts. Following a contract modification, the customeris billed in line with the delivery of the remaining performance
obligations. Areceivable isrecognised only when the Group's right to consideration is only conditional on the passage of time.

Home Traderrevenue

Home Trader customers pay a feein advance to advertise a vehicle onthe Group’s platform for a specified period of time. Revenue is
deferred until the customer obtains control over the services. Controlis obtained by customers across the life of the contract as their
vehicleis continually listed. Contracts for these services are typically enteredinto for a period of between two and six weeks.

Logisticsrevenue

Logistics customers pay a monthly subscription fee for access to the Group’s Motor Trade Delivery platform. Controlis obtained by
customers across the life of the contract as their accessis continuous. Contracts for these services are agreed at a customer level and
are ongoing subjectto a 30-day notice period. Logistics customers have the option to bid on vehicle moves advertised by retailers on the
platform. The logistics customer pays a fee if they are successfulin obtaining business from retailers through the Group’s marketplace.
Revenueisrecognised at the pointin time when the vehicle move has been completed. Areceivable isrecognised only when the Group’s
right to considerationis only conditionalon the passage of time.

Datarevenue
Data customers pay asubscription fee to access elements of Auto Trader’s vehicle database or to access the Fleetware software. Control
istransferred to customers across the life of the contract where customers have continuous access to the database or the software.

AutoConvertrevenue

AutoConvert customers pay amonthly subscription fee to access the AutoConvert platform. Controlis transferred to customers across the life
of the contract where customers have continuous access to the platform and revenueis recognised across this period. Ancillary AutoConvert
revenues are charged on a per transaction basis and revenue is recognised at the pointin time that these services are provided.

(ii) Consumer Services revenue

Consumer Services comprises fees from private sellers for vehicle advertisements on the Group's websites, and third-party partners
who provide services to consumers relating to their motoring needs, such asinsurance and loan finance. Private customers pay a feein
advance to advertise avehicle onthe Group's platform for a specified period of time. Controlis obtained by customers across the life

of the contract as their stockis continually listed. Contracts for these services are typically entered into for a period of between two and
six weeks and revenue isrecognised over this time. Revenue is also generated from third-party partners who utilise the Group’s platforms
to advertise their products under avariety of contractual arrangements, with each service being a separate performance obligation.
Controlis obtained by customers ata pointin time when the service is provided. Revenue is also generated through Instant Offer,
providing consumers with a guaranteed price for their vehicle of fered by a third-party buyer. The Group’s fee isrecognised as revenue
when the consumer’s vehicleis collected by the third-party buyer.

(iii) Manufacturer and Agency revenue

Revenueis generated from manufacturers and their advertising agencies for placing display advertising for their brand or vehicle on the
Group's websites under avariety of contractual arrangements, with each service being a separate performance obligation. Controlis
obtained by customers across the life of the contract as their advertising is displayed on the different platforms. Rebates are presentin
the contractualarrangements with customers and are awarded eitherin cash or value of services based upon annual spend; an estimate
of the annualised spendis made at the reporting date to determine the amount of revenue to be recognised. Areceivable isrecognised
only when the Group'sright to considerationis only conditional on the passage of time.
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(iv) Autorama revenue
Autoramarevenue comprises consideration received from the sale of new vehicles and accessories as well as commission received for
facilitating the lease of new vehicles.

Vehicle & Accessory salesrevenue

Vehicle & Accessory salesrevenue is generated from new vehicles which are purchased from an original equipment manufacturer ('OEM’)
orretailer and then sold to alease funder. Controlis obtained by the funder at a pointin time when the vehicle is delivered and revenue
isonly recognised at this point. Additional accessories can be added to vehicles at extra cost upon the request of the funder, and
controlis once again obtained by the funder at a pointin time when the vehicle is delivered. Where the Group obtains control of vehicles
oraccessoriesinadvance of selling those goods to a funder, including holding inventory risk, then the Group is acting as principal and
revenue and cost of sales are reported on a gross basis. Where the Group does not obtain control of vehicles, revenue isrecorded as the
value of the related commission and recognised as described below.

Commission & Ancillary revenue

Commission & Ancillary revenue is generated from commission received from lease funders for facilitating the lease of new vehicles via
advertisement on the Autorama online marketplace. Controlis obtained by the funder at a pointintime when the leaseis live and revenue
isonly recognised at this point. Ancillary Autorama revenues are charged on a per transaction basis and revenue is recognised at the
pointintime thatthese services are provided.

Rebates are presentin the contractualarrangements with funders and are awarded in cash based upon the quarterly number of vehicles
provided. Similarly, rebates are presentin the contractual arrangements with OEMs and are awarded in cash based upon the quarterly
number of vehicles purchased. Revenue isrecognised as volume targets are met, when Autorama’s right to considerationis only
conditionalonthe passage of time.

Employee benefits
The Group operates several pension schemes and all except one are defined contribution schemes. Within the UK all pension schemes
setup prior to 2001 have been closed to new members and only one defined contribution scheme is now open to new employees.

a) Defined contribution scheme
The assets of the defined contribution scheme are held separately from those of the Group inindependently administered funds.
The costsinrespect of this Scheme are charged to theincome statementasincurred.

b) Defined benefit scheme

The Group operates one defined benefit pension scheme thatis closed to new members. The asset or liability recognisedin the balance
sheetinrespect of the defined benefit schemeis the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the
fair value of the Scheme’s assets. The defined benefit obligationis calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected
unitcreditmethod. The presentvalue of the defined benefit obligationis determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows
usinginterest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that
have terms to maturity approximating those of the related pension liability. Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changesin actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the periodin
whichthey arise. Any Scheme surplus (to the extentit can be recovered) or deficitis recognisedin full on the balance sheet. Contributions
paid to the Scheme by the Group have been classified as financing activities in the Consolidated statement of cash flows as there are no
remaining active members within the Scheme.

c) Share-based payments

Equity-settled awards are valued at the grant date, and the fair value is charged as an expense in the income statement spread over the
vesting period. Fair value of the awards is measured using Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo pricing models. The credit side of the entryis
recordedin equity. Cash-settled awards are revalued at each reporting date with the fair value of the award charged to the profit and
loss account over the vesting period and the credit side of the entry recognised as a liability.

Research and development
Research and development expenditure is charged against profitsin the yearin whichitisincurred, unlessitis development that meets
the criteria for capitalisation set outin IAS 38, Intangible Assets.

Operating profit
Operating profitis the profit of the Group (including the Group's share of profit from joint ventures) before finance income, finance costs,
profit ondisposal of subsidiaries which do not meet the definition of a discontinued operation, and taxation.

Financeincome and costs
Financeincomeis earned on bank deposits and finance costs are incurred on bank borrowings. Both are recognised in theincome
statementin the periodin which they areincurred.

Taxation

The taxexpense for the period comprises current and deferred taxation. Taxis recognised in the income statement, except to the extent
thatitrelatestoitemsrecognisedin‘other comprehensiveincome’ or directly in equity. In this case the taxis also recognisedin other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. Management periodically evaluates positions takenin tax returns with respect
tosituationsinwhich applicable taxregulationis subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Current taxationis provided atamounts expected to be paid (orrecovered) calculated using the rates of tax and laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued

Deferred taxationis providedin full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts are included in the Consolidated financial statements. Deferred taxationis determined using tax
rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred tax assetisrealised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred taxation assets arerecognised only to the extent thatitis probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred taxationis provided on temporary differences arising oninvestments in subsidiaries and interestsinjoint ventures, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group anditis probable that the temporary difference
willnotreverseinthe foreseeable future.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there is alegally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred taxation assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where thereis anintention to settle the balance on a net basis.

Leases

Atinception of acontract, the Group assesses whether ornot acontractis, or contains, alease. Acontractis, or contains, alease if the contract
conveys theright to control the use of anidentified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. When alease isrecognised in
acontract the Group recognises aright of use asset and alease liability at the lease commencement date other than as noted below.

Theright of use assetisinitially measured at cost, which comprises the initialamount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease prepayments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costsincurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or torestore the underlying asset or the site onwhichitislocated, less any lease incentivesreceived. Theright of use assetis
subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the
right of use assetorthe end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right of use assets are determined on the same basis as those
of property, plantand equipment. In addition, the right of use assetis periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for
certainremeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liabilityisinitially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted
usingtheinterestrate implicitin the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’sincremental borrowing rate.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Itisremeasured when there isachange in future
lease payments arising from achange inanindexorrate, orif the Group changesits assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option.

The Group presents right of use assets in property, plant and equipment and leased liabilities in lease liabilities in the balance sheet.

The Group has applied the recognition exemption of low value leases. For these leases, the lease payments are charged to theincome
statement on astraight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Financialinstruments

Afinancial asset (unlessitis atrade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially measured at
fairvalue plus, for anitem not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable toits acquisition orissue.
Atrade receivable without a significant financing componentisinitially measured at the transaction price.

Under IFRS 9, trade receivablesincluding accrued income, without a significant financing component, are classified and held at amortised
cost, beinginitially measured at the transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost less any impairment loss.

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses ('"ECLs’) for trade receivables and accrued income. The expected credit losses

are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical creditloss experience, adjusted for any macro-economic factors.
At 31 March 2022, ECLs were adjusted for the macro-economic uncertainty around retailer profitability driven by used car price volatility.
Aconsistentlevel of ECLs has beenrecorded at 31 March 2023.

The Group assesses whether a financial assetisin default on a case by case basis when it becomes probable that the customeris unlikely
topayits credit obligations. The gross carrying amount of a financial assetis written off when the Group has noreasonable expectations
of recovering a financial assetinits entirety or a portion thereof. For all customers, the Group individually makes an assessment with
respectto the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is areasonable expectation of recovery. The Group expects no
significantrecovery from the amount written of f. However, financial assets that are written of f could still be subject to enforcement
activitiesinorder to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Ateachreporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. Afinancial asset
is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimentalimpact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Financialliabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit and loss. A financial liability is classified as at fair
value through profitandlossifitis classified as held-for-trading, itis a derivative, oritis designated as such oninitial recognition and measured
atfairvalue and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities, including trade
payables, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses arerecognisedin profit orloss. Any gain or loss on derecognitionis also recognised in profit or loss.
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Intangible assets

a) Goodwill

Goodwillrepresents the excess cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the netidentifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwillis tested annually forimpairment andis carried at cost less accumulated impairment

losses. Impairmentlosses are charged to the income statement and are not reversed. The gain or loss on the disposal of anentityincludes

the carryingamount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. Goodwillis allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.
The allocationismade to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

b) Trademarks, trade names, technology, non-compete agreements, customer relationships, franchise buybacks, brands and databases
Separately acquired trademarks, trade names, technology and customer relationships are recognised at historical cost. They have
afinite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisationis calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the costover their estimated useful lives of between one and 15 years. Trademarks, trade names, technology, non-compete
agreements, customer relationships, franchise buybacks, brands and databases acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fairvalue at the acquisition date and subsequently amortised.

c) Software

Acquired computer software controlled by the Groupis capitalised at cost, including any costs to bringitinto use, andis carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisationis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the estimated useful life
of three to five years.

d) Software and website development costs and financial systems
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products,
websites and systems controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

itis technically feasible to complete the software product or website so thatit will be available for use;

managementintends to complete the software product or website and use or sellit;

thereis an ability to use or sell the software product or website;

itcan be demonstrated how the software product or website will generate probable future economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and otherresources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product or website
are available; and

the expenditure attributable to the software product or website during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product, website or systeminclude employee and contractor
costs. Otherdevelopment expenditures thatdo not meet these criteria, as well as ongoing maintenance and costs associated with
routine upgrades and enhancements, are recognised as an expense asincurred. Development costs for software, websites and systems
are carried atcost less accumulated amortisation and are amortised over their useful lives (not exceeding 10 years) at the point at which
they comeinto use.

Licence agreements to use cloud software provided as aservice are treated as service contracts and expensed in the Group income
statement, unless the Group has both a contractualright to take possession of the software at any time without significant penalty, and the
ability torunthe software independently of the host vendor. Insuch cases the licence agreementis capitalised as software withinintangible
assets. Implementation costs are expensed unlessimplementationis a distinct service and givesrise to a separate intangible asset.

Property, plant and equipment
All property, plantand equipmentis stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
comprises the purchase price of the asset and expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Freehold landis not depreciated. Depreciation on other assetsis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost less their
estimatedresidualvalues over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Land, buildings and leasehold improvements:

+ Leasehold land and buildings life of lease
- Leaseholdimprovements life of lease
+ Plantand equipment 3-10years

The assets’ residual values and usefullives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, ateach balance sheet date. The carrying value of
assetsisreviewed forimpairmentif events or changesin circumstances suggest that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Assets will
be written down to theirrecoverable amountif lower than the carrying value, and any impairment is charged to the income statement.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in theincome
statement within administrative expenses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have anindefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually forimpairment.
Assets thatare subject to amortisation and depreciation are reviewed forimpairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate thatthe carryingamount may not be recoverable. Animpairment lossis recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceedsits recoverable amount. The recoverable amountis the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that have suffered animpairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of theimpairment ateachreporting date.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued

Inassessing value inuse, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely
independent cash flows, the recoverable amountis determined for the cash-generating unit to which the assetbelongs.

Impairmentlossesrecognisedinrespect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assetsin the unit (or group of units)
onapro-ratabasis.

Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method under IFRS 3. See note 1 for further details.

Interestsinjointventures

Under IFRS 11, investmentsin joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations orjoint ventures depending on the contractual
rights and obligations of eachinvestor. Auto Trader Group plc has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined them
tobejointventures. Jointventures are accounted forusing the equity method. Under the equity method of accounting, interestsin joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses,
movementsin other comprehensive income and dividends received.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cashand cash equivalentsinclude cashin hand and short-term deposits held on call with banks.

Inventories
Inventory is measured at the lower of cost and netrealisable value, being the estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell.
Costisbased onthe costof purchase onafirstin, first out basis.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costsincurred, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost,
with any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value being recognisedin the income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Finance andissue costs associated with the borrowings are charged to the income statement using the effective interest rate method
fromthe date of issue over the estimated life of the borrowings to which the costsrelate.

Borrowings are derecognised when the contractual obligationis discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modificationis treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, such that the
differenceinrespective carrying amounts together with any costs or feesincurred are recognised in the income statement.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has anunconditionalright to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the balance sheet date.

Vehicle financing

Avehicle stocking loanis a financing arrangement whichis used to purchase new and used vehicles prior to re-sale. This financing
arrangement can only be used for this purpose, typically has a maturity of 180 days or less andis repayable on the earliest of the vehicle
delivery date or the maturity date. Based on these factors, the Group recognises these arrangements as financial liabilities within trade
and other payables.

Provisions

Aprovisionisrecognised when a present legal or constructive obligation exists at the balance sheet date as aresult of a past event,
itisprobable thatanoutflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and areliable estimate of that obligation can be made.
Where there are anumber of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlementis determined by considering
the class of obligations as awhole. If the effectis material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
atapre-taxrate thatreflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to

the obligation.

Contingentliabilities are notrecognised but are disclosed unless an outflow of resources is remote. Contingent assets are not
recognised but are disclosed where aninflow of economic benefitsis probable.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity asa
deduction fromthe proceeds.

Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from equity attributable to the Group's
shareholders. Where such shares are subsequently cancelled, the nominal value of the shares repurchasedis deducted from share

capitaland transferred to a capitalredemptionreserve. Where the Group purchases its own equity share capital to hold in treasury,
the consideration paid for the shares is shown as own shares held within equity.
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Shares held by Employee Share Option Trust

The Employee Share Option Trust (‘ESOT’) provides for the issue of shares to Group employees principally under share option schemes.
The Group has control of the ESOT and therefore consolidates the ESOT in the Group financial statements. Accordingly, sharesin the
Company held by the ESOT areincludedin the balance sheet at cost as a deduction from equity.

Share premium
The amount subscribed for the ordinary shares in excess of the nominal value of these new sharesisrecordedin share premium.
Coststhatdirectly relate to theissue of ordinary shares are deducted from share premium net of corporation tax.

Capitalreorganisationreserve

The capitalreorganisationreserve arose on consolidation as aresult of the share-for-share exchange on 24 March 2015. It represents the
difference between the nominalvalue of sharesissued by Auto Trader Group plcin this transaction and the share capitaland reserves

of Auto Trader Holding Limited.

Capitalredemptionreserve
The capitalredemptionreserve arises from the purchase and subsequent cancellation of the Group’s own equity share capital.

Otherreserves
Otherreservesinclude the currency translation reserve on the consolidation of entities whose functional currency is other than sterling,
and other amounts which arose on the initial common control transaction that formed the Group.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share ('EPS’) forits ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. For diluted
EPS, the weighted average number of ordinary sharesis adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholdersisrecognised as aliability in the Group’s financial statementsin the period in which
the dividend is approved by the Company’s shareholdersin the case of final dividends, or the date at which they are paidinthe case

of interim dividends.

Segmentreporting

Operating segments are reported ina manner consistent with the internalreporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, whoisresponsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has beenidentified as the Operational Leadership Team that makes strategic decisions (note 4).

Foreign currency translation

a) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at the
period end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement
within administrative expenses.

b) Foreign operations
Theresults and financial position of all Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency other than sterling are translated into sterling as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet; and
- income and expenses foreachincome statement are translated at average exchange rates.

These foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and the translation reserve within other reserves.

Onthedisposalof aforeign operation, the cumulative exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in theincome
statementas part of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Fairvalue measurement

'Fairvalue'isthe price that would be received to sellan asset or paid to transfer aliability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date inthe principal or, inits absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access
atthatdate. The fairvalue of aliability reflectsits non-performance risk. Anumber of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures
require the measurement of fair values, for both financialand non-financial assets and liabilities. When one is available, the Group
measures the fair value of aninstrument using the quoted price in an active market for thatinstrument. If there isno quoted priceinan
active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable outputs and minimise the use of
unobservable outputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account
inpricing a transaction.
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3. Risk and capital management

Overview

Inthe course of its business the Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk fromits use of financialinstruments.

This note presentsinformation about the Group’s exposure to each of the below risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes
formeasuring and managing risk and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout
these Consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s overall riskmanagement strategy is to minimise potential adverse effects onthe financial performance and net assets of
the Group. These policies are set and reviewed by senior finance management and all significant financing transactions are authorised
by the Board of Directors.

Market risk

i. Foreign exchange risk

The Group has no significant foreign exchange risk as 99% of the Group’s revenue and 99% of costs are sterling-denominated. As the
amounts are not significant, no sensitivity analysis has been presented.

During the year the Group sold one of its subsidiaries, Webzone Limited, which traded in the Republic of Ireland under the Carzone brand.
Following the sale of Webzone Limited, all of the Group’s revenue and costs are sterling-denominated.

ii. Interestrate risk

The Group'sinterestrate risk arises from long-term borrowings under the Syndicated RCF with floating rates of interest linked to SONIA.
The Group monitorsinterestrates on anongoing basis butdoes not currently hedge interestrate risk. The variation of 100 basis pointsin
theinterestrate of floating rate financial liabilities (with all other variables held constant) willincrease or decrease post-tax profit for the
year by £0.4m (2022: £0.0m).

Creditrisk
Creditriskis therisk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or banking institution fails to meetits contractual obligations.

i. Tradereceivables

Creditriskrelating to trade receivablesis managed centrally and the creditrisk for new Auto Trader customersis analysed before
standard payment terms and conditions are of fered. Policies and procedures exist to ensure that Auto Trader’s existing customers have
an appropriate credit history and a significant number of balances are collected via direct debit. In March, more than 87.4% (2022: 87.4%)
of Auto Trader’s retailer customers paid via monthly direct debit, minimising the risk of non-payment. Sales to private individuals using
Auto Trader are primarily settled in advance using major debit or credit cards which removes the riskin this area.

Autorama’s main customers are funders who do not change regularly, so the riskin this areais also minimal.

The Group establishes an expected credit loss that representsits estimate of lossesinrespect of trade and other receivables.
Further details of these are givenin note 32.

Overall, the Group considers thatitis not exposed to a significant amount of either customer credit or bad debt risk, due to the
fragmented nature of the customer base and the robust nature of the used car market.

ii. Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 March 2023, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of £16.6m (2022: £51.3m). The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank
and financialinstitution counterparties, which are rated between P-1and P-2 based on Moody’s ratings. The Group's treasury policy is
tomonitor cash,and when applicable deposit balances, on a daily basis and to manage counterparty risk, whilst also ensuring efficient
management of the Group’s Syndicated RCF.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity riskis therisk that the Group willencounter difficulties in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, thatit will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking
damage to the Group’s reputation.

Cash flow forecastingis performed centrally by the Director of Group Finance. Rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements
are monitored to ensureithas sufficient cash to meet operationalneeds. The Group’s revenue modelis largely subscription-based,
whichresultsinaregularlevel of cash conversion allowingit to service working capitalrequirements.

The Group has access to a Syndicated RCF which has total commitments of £200.0m. The £200.0m Syndicated RCF is committed through
tomaturityin February 2028. The facility allows the Group access to cash at one working day’s notice. At 31 March 2023, £60.0m was
drawnunder the Syndicated RCF (2022: £nil).

The Group has access to avehicle stocking loan, with alimit of £12.0m. This financing arrangement can only be used to fund the purchase
of new and used vehicles prior tore-sale and has a maturity of 180 days or less. The loanis repayable onthe earliest of the vehicle delivery
date or the maturity date. At 31 March 2023, £3.0m was recognised in the Consolidated balance sheet (2022: £nil).
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Capitalmanagement
The Group considers capital to be net debt plus total equity. Net debtis calculated as totalbank debt, other loans, vehicle stocking loans
and lease financing, less cash and cash equivalents as shown in note 20. Total equity is as shownin the Consolidated balance sheet.

The calculation of total capitalis showninthe table below:

2023 2022

£m £m

Totalnet debt/(cash) 52.4 (41.7)
Total equity 527.3 472.5
Total capital 579.7 430.8

The objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an efficient cost of capital structure. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may pay dividends, return capital through share buybacks, issue new shares or take other steps toincrease share
capitalandreduce orincrease debt facilities.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had borrowings of £60.0m (2022: £nil) throughits Syndicated RCF. Interestis payable on this facility atarate
of SONIA plus a margin of between1.2% and 2.1% depending on the consolidated leverage ratio of Auto Trader Group plc and its subsidiaries,
whichis calculated and reviewed on abiannual basis. The Group remains in compliance withits banking covenants.

4.Segmentalinformation

IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’ requires the Group to determine its operating segments based oninformation whichis providedinternally.
Basedontheinternalreporting information and management structures within the Group, ithas been determined that there are two
operating segments (2022: one operating segment). The acquisition of Autoramain June 2022 has led to Autorama beingreported as
aseparate segmentduring the period. The Group's reportable operating segments have therefore beenidentified as follows:

Auto Trader:includes the results of Auto Trader, AutoConvert and Webzone inrespect of online classified advertising of motor vehicles
and otherrelated products and servicesin the digital automotive marketplace including share of profit from the Dealer Auction joint
venture.

Autorama: the results of Autoramainrespect of a marketplace for leasing new vehicles and otherrelated products and services.

Management has determined that there are two operating segmentsin line with the nature in which the Group is managed. The reports
reviewed by the Operational Leadership Team (‘OLT’), whichis the chief operating decision-maker (‘{CODM’) for both segments, split out
operating performance by segment. The OLT is made up of the Executive Directors and Key Management andis responsible for the strategic
decision-making of the Group. Revenue and cost streams for each operating segment are largely independentin the reporting period.

The OLT primarily uses the measures of Revenue and Operating profit to assess the performance of each operating segment. The revenue
fromexternal partiesreported to the OLT is measured in a manner consistent with thatin the income statement. There are no inter-segment

revenuesin the current or comparative periods.

Analysis of the Group’s revenue and results for both reportable segments, with areconciliation to Group profit before tax, is shown below:

Auto Trader Autorama Group

segment segment centralcosts Group

Year to 31 March 2023 £m £m £m £m
Totalsegmentrevenue 473.0 27.2 - 500.2
People costs (74.0) (10.5) (38.8) (123.3)
Marketing (22.3) 4.7) - (27.0)
Costs of goodssold - (15.7) - (15.7)
Othercosts (39.6) (5.4) - (45.0)
Depreciation & amortisation (6.7) (2.1) (5.3) (14.1)
Totalsegment costs (142.6) (38.4) (44.1) (225.1)
Share of profit fromjoint ventures 2.5 - - 2.5
Total segment operating profit/(loss) 332.9 (11.2) (44.1) 277.6
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 19.1
Finance costs - net (3.1)
Profit before tax 293.6
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4. Segmentalinformation continued

Group central costs which are not allocated within either of the segment operating profit/(loss) reported to the CODM comprise:

(i) Peoplecosts:a£38.8m charge for the expense of Group shares expected to beissued to settle the Autorama deferred consideration
(note 31).

(i) Depreciation & amortisation: £5.3m of amortisation expense relating to the fair value of intangible brand, technology and other
assets acquiredinthe Group’s business combination of Autorama.

Auto Trader Autorama Group
segment segment central costs Group
Year to 31 March 2022 £m £m £m £m
Totalsegmentrevenue 432.7 = = 432.7
People costs (69.8) = = (69.8)
Marketing (20.5) - - (20.5)
Other costs (34.5) = = (34.5)
Depreciation & amortisation (7.2) = = (7.2)
Totalsegment costs (132.0) = = (132.0)
Share of profit fromjoint ventures 2.9 - - 29
Total segment operating profit 303.6 = = 303.6
Finance costs - net (2.6)
Profit before tax 301.0

Inthe currentyear, the Group has classified expenditure by nature (2022: by function). The change, whichis presented consistently for
the currentand prioryearin this note, has been adopted to provide more meaningfulinformation about the Group’s expenditure following
the Autorama acquisition. Inthe prior year, all expenditure was classified by function as administrative expenses.

5. Revenue

The Group's operations and main revenue streams are those described in these annual financial statements. The Group’s revenue is derived
from contracts with customers.

Otherthandisclosedinnote 10, all revenues were earned from activities and customersin the United Kingdom.

Inthe following table, the Group’s revenue is detailed by customer type. This level of detailis consistent with that used by management
to assistinthe analysis of the Group’s revenue-generating trends.

2023 2022
Revenue £m £m

Retailer 406.8 370.4

Home Trader 10.1 8.8

Other 10.5 9.1
Trade 427.4 388.3
Consumer Services 34.5 33.3
Manufacturer and Agency 1.1 1.1
Autorama 27.2 -
Totalrevenue 500.2 432.7

Revenueislargely recognised over time, other than Autoramarevenue whichisrecognised at a pointin time when related sales commission
orfeesare earned. The Group has no major customers to disclose in either the current or prior year.

Contractbalances
The following table providesinformation aboutreceivables and contract assets and liabilities from contracts with customers.

2023 2022

£m £m
Receivables, which areincludedin trade and otherreceivables 31.5 28.2
Accruedincome 40.2 35.8
Deferredincome (14.0) (1.9)

Accruedincome relates to the Group’s unconditionalrights to consideration for services provided but not invoiced at the reporting date.
Accruedincomeis transferred to trade receivables wheninvoiced.
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Deferredincome relates to advanced consideration received for whichrevenueisrecognised as or when services are provided. £5.7m
(2022: £3.0m) of the deferredincome balance is classified as a current liability within trade and other payables (note 21). Included within
deferredincomeis £8.9m (2022: £9.5m) relating to considerationreceived from Dealer Auction Limited (joint venture) for the provision of
dataservices to Dealer Auction (note 16). Revenue relating to this service is recognised on a straight-line basis over a period of 20 years
to 31 December 2038; given this time period the liability has been split between current and non-current liabilities. Revenue of £0.6m was
recognisedin the year (2022: £0.6m).

6. Operating profit

Operating profitis after (charging)/crediting the following:

2023 2022

Note £m £m

Staff costs 7 (84.1) (69.8)
Contractor costs (0.4) -
Depreciation of property, plantand equipment 14 (4.9) (4.6)
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 (9.2) (2.6)
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 0.7 =

Services provided by the Company’s auditor
During the year, the Group (including overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the operating company’s auditor:

2023 2022
£m £m

Fees payable for the audit of the Company and Consolidated financial statements 0.2 0.1

Fees payable for other services

The audit of the subsidiary undertakings pursuant to legislation 0.3 0.3

Total 0.5 0.4

Fees payable for audit-related assurance servicesin the year were £48,000 (2022: £43,841). Fees payable for other non-audit services
inthe year were £nil (2022: £nil).

7.Employee numbers and costs

The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors but excluding third-party contractors) employed by the Group
was as follows:

2023 2022

Number Number

Customer operations 566 422

Product and technology 403 384

Corporate 191 154

Total 1,160 960
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

2023 2022

Note £m £m

Wages andsalaries 66.7 54.8

Social security costs 7.3 5.7

Defined contribution pension costs 25 3.5 3.2

77.5 63.7

Share-based payments and associated NI 30 6.6 6.1

Total 84.1 69.8

Wages and salariesinclude £27.7m (2022: £25.2m) relating to the product and technology teams; these teams spend a significant
proportion of their time oninnovation of our product proposition and incrementalenhancements to the Group's platforms.

In addition to the share-based payments disclosed above, a share-based payment charge of £38.8m (2022: £nil) has beenrecorded
intheincome statement for the year, relating to deferred consideration for the acquisition of Autorama, whichis payable in shares and
contingenton post-acquisition employment and service conditions (note 31).
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8. Directors and Key Management remuneration

Theremuneration of Directorsis disclosed in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 80 to 93:

Key Management compensation
During the year to 3t March 2023, Key Management comprised the members of the OLT (who are defined in note 4) and the Non-Executive
Directors (2022: OLT and the Non-Executive Directors). The remuneration of all Key Management (including all Directors) was as follows:

2023 2022
£m £m
Short-term employee benefits 4.2 4.1
Share-based payments 21 3.6
Pension contributions 0.2 0.2
Total 6.5 7.9
9. Net finance costs
2023 2022
£m £m
Onbankloans and overdrafts 2.5 1.4
Amortisation of debtissue costs 0.5 1.0
Interestunwind on lease liabilities 0.2 0.2
Interest onvehicle stocking loan 0.1 =
Interest charged on deferred consideration - 0.1
Interestreceivable on cash and cash equivalents (0.2) (0.1)
Total 31 2.6

10. Disposal of a subsidiary

Sale of Webzone Limited
On 24 October 2022, the Group announced the sale of one of its subsidiaries, Webzone Limited, which tradesin the Republic of Ireland
under the Carzone brand. The business was sold to Mediahuis Ireland for a consideration of €30.0m.

Revenue generated from Webzone Limited in the period to 24 October 2022 was £2.9m (year ended 31 March 2022: £4.9m). The disposal
of Webzone Limited does notrepresent a discontinued operation under IFRS 5 as the entity was neither a separate major line of business
oramaterial geographical area of operation.

Aprofitondisposalhas beenrecognisedinthe Group’s Consolidatedincome statement:

24 October 2022

£m

Goodwill 5.7
Property, plant and equipment 0.6
Deferred taxation assets 0.1
Trade and otherreceivables 0.9
Cashand cash equivalents 0.8
Lease liabilities (0.7)
Trade and other payables (0.5)
Netidentifiable assets/(liabilities) disposed of 6.9
Cash considerationreceived 26.4
Netidentifiable assets disposed of (6.9)
Realisation of cumulative currency translation difference (0.4)
Gainondisposal of subsidiary 19.1
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11. Taxation

2023 2022

£m £m

Current taxation
UK corporation taxation 61.2 56.5
Foreign taxation 0.1 0.2
Adjustmentsinrespect of prioryears (0.2) (0.4)
Total current taxation 61.1 56.3
Deferred taxation
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (1.3) 0.3
Effect of rate changes onopening balance - 0.2
Adjustmentsinrespectof prioryears (0.1) (0.5)
Total deferred taxation (1.4) -
Total taxation charge 59.7 56.3

The taxation charge for the yearis higher than (2022: lower than) the effective rate of corporation taxin the UK of 19% (2022:19%).
The differences are explained below:

2023 2022

£m £m

Profit before taxation 293.6 301.0
Tax on profit at the standard UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2022:19%) 55.8 57.2
Expenses notdeductible for taxation purposes 8.5 0.8
Income not taxable - gain on disposal of subsidiary (3.6) -
Share of joint venture taxation (0.5) (0.6)
Adjustmentsinrespect of foreign taxationrates (0.1) (0.1)
Effect of rate change on deferred taxation - 0.1
Adjustmentsinrespect of OClgroup relief (0.1) (0.2)
Adjustmentsinrespect of prioryears (0.3) (0.9)
Total taxation charge 59.7 56.3

Expenses non-deductible for taxation purposesinthe currentyear principally includes the share-based payment expense relating to the
deferred consideration and amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisition of Autorama (note 4).

Taxation onitems taken directly to equity was a credit of £0.4m (2022: £0.1m) relating to tax on share-based payments.

Taxationrecorded in equity within the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income was arelease of £0.4m (2022: charge of £0.2m)
relating to post-employment benefit obligations.

The taxation charge for the yearis based on the standard rate of UK corporation tax for the period of 19% (2022:19%).

Deferredincome taxes have been measured at the taxrate expected to be applicable at the date the deferredincome tax assets and
liabilities are realised.

On10June 2021, Royal Assent to the Finance Act was given toincrease UK corporation tax from19% to 25% from1April 2023. Management
has performed an assessment, for all material deferred income tax assets and liabilities, to determine the period over which the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are forecast to be realised, which has resulted in an average deferred income tax rate of 25% being used
tomeasure alldeferred tax balances as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 20%).

Withrevenue exceeding £500.0m for the first time, the Group is potentially within scope of the UK's digital services tax (‘DST’), however
certainrevenue streams, such as vehicle and accessory sales, would be exempt, meaning we do not meet the thresholdin financialyear
2023. ItisHMRC's intention that the current UK DST will be repealed during financial year 2024 and replaced with an OECD model for
which the Group would not bein scope.
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12. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per shareis calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary sharesinissue during the year, excluding those
heldintreasury and by the Employee Share Option Trust (‘ESOT’), based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders.

Weighted average Total
number of earnings Pence
ordinary shares £m pershare
Year ended 31 March 2023
Basic EPS 935,138,578 233.9 25.01
Diluted EPS 944,144,242 233.9 24.77
Year ended 31 March 2022
Basic EPS 955,532,888 244.7 25.61
Diluted EPS 957,534,145 244.7 25.56

The number of sharesinissue at the start of the yearisreconciled to the basic and diluted weighted average number of shares below:

2023 2022
Issued ordinary shares at1April 946,892,976 969,024,186
Weighted effect of ordinary shares purchased for cancellation (7,112,698) (9,573,664)
Weighted effect of ordinary shares heldin treasury (4,304,401) (3,572,833)
Weighted effect of shares held inthe ESOT (348,989) (371,316)
Weighted effect of ordinary sharesissued for share-based payments 11,690 26,515
Weighted average number of shares for basic EPS 935,138,578 955,532,888
Dilutive impact of share options outstanding 9,005,664 2,001,257
Weighted average number of shares for diluted EPS 944,144,242 957,534,145

Fordiluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares for basic EPS is adjusted to assume conversion of all potentially
dilutive ordinary shares. The Group has potentially dilutive ordinary shares arising from share options granted to employees and shares
issued as deferred consideration. Options are dilutive under the Sharesave scheme where the exercise price together with the future
IFRS 2 charge s less than the average market price of the ordinary shares during the year. Options under the Performance Share Plan,
the Single Incentive Plan Award, the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan and the Share Incentive Plan are contingently issuable shares and are
therefore onlyincluded within the calculation of diluted EPS if the performance conditions are satisfied.

The average market value of the Group’s shares for the purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share-based incentives was based
onquoted market prices for the period during which the share-based incentives were outstanding.
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13. Intangible assets

Software and
website
development
Goodwill costs Financialsystems Brand Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost

At 31 March 2021 457.9 14.4 13.1 1.2 25.3 511.9
At 31 March 2022 457.9 14.4 13.1 1.2 25.3 51.9
Acquired through business combinations 92.5 13.7 - 47.6 5.6 159.4
Additions = 1.0 = = = 1.0
Disposals (5.7) (1.8) - (0.6) (1.2) (9.3)
Exchange differences (0.1) - - - - (0.1)
At 31 March 2023 544.6 27.3 13.1 48.2 29.7 662.9

Accumulated amortisation and impairments
At 31 March 2021 17.0 8.3 12.8 0.6 15.0 153.7
Amortisation charge = 0.9 0.3 0.1 1.3 2.6
At 31 March 2022 17.0 9.2 13.1 0.7 16.3 156.3
Amortisation charge = 2.5 = 4.2 2.5 9.2
Disposals - (1.8) = (0.6) (1.2) (3.6)
At 31 March 2023 117.0 9.9 13.1 4.3 17.6 161.9
Netbookvalue at 31 March 2023 427.6 17.4 - 43.9 12.1 501.0
Netbookvalue at 31 March 2022 340.9 5.2 = 0.5 9.0 355.6
Net book value at 31 March 2021 340.9 6.1 0.3 0.6 10.3 358.2

Otherintangiblesinclude customer relationships, technology, trade names, trademarks and non-compete agreements. Intangible assets
which have afinite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation of these intangible assetsis calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives (principally between 3to15years).

The longest estimated useful life remaining at 31 March 2023 is12 years (31 March 2022: 13 years).

For the yearto 31 March 2023, the amortisation charge of £9.2m (2022: £2.6m) has been charged to operating costs in the Consolidated
income statement. At 31 March 2023, there were no software and website development costs representing assets under construction
(2022: £nil).

Inaccordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards, goodwillis not amortised, butinstead is tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if there are indicators of impairment. Goodwillis carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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13. Intangible assets continued

Impairment test for goodwill

Goodwillis allocated to the appropriate cash-generating unit (‘CGU’) based on the smallestidentifiable group of assets that generates
cashinflowsindependentlyinrelation to the specific goodwill. Following the acquisition of Autorama, there are now two CGUs that exist
inthe Group, being the Digital CGU and the Autorama CGU.

The carrying value of the CGUs is principally the sum of goodwill, property, plant and equipment (including lease assets), intangibles and
lease liabilities, as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m
Digital 351.1 360.8
Autorama 152.8 =
Total 503.9 360.8

Digital

Therecoverable amount of the Digital CGU is determined from value-in-use calculations that use discounted cash flow projections from
the latest business plan. The carrying value is forecast to be recovered based on less than two years of forecasted cash flows from this
mature operating business.

Income and costs within the budget are derived on a detailed ‘bottom up’ basis - allincome streams and cost lines are considered and
appropriate growth, ordecline, rates are assumed. Income and cost growth forecasts are risk adjusted to reflect specific risks facing
the CGU and take into account the marketin whichit operates. Assumptions, which are not sensitive to change, include revenue growth
rates, associated levels of marketing support and directly associated overheads. Allassumptions are based on past performance
and management’s expectation of market development. Cash flows beyond the budgeted period of five years (2022: five years) are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rate stated into perpetuity; arate of 2.0%(2022: 2.0%) has been used. Thisis lower than the
currentrate of inflationin the UK but takes account of longer-term considerations.

The pre-tax discountrate used within the recoverable amount calculationis based upon the weighted average cost of capitalreflecting
specific principal risks and uncertainties. The discount rate takes into account the risk-free rate of return, the market risk premium and beta
factorreflecting the average beta for the Group and comparator companies which are used in deriving the cost of equity. Other than as
includedin the financial budget,itis assumed that there are no material adverse changesin legislation that would affect the forecast
cash flows.

The key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation are as follows:

2023 2022
Terminalvalue growthrate 2.0% 2.0%
Discountrate (pre-tax) 12.8% 8.6%

Therecoverable amount of goodwill shows significant headroom compared withits carrying value. The level of headroom may change
if different growth rate assumptions or adifferent pre-tax discount rate were used in the cash flow projections. There are no changes to
the key assumptions of growth rate or discountrate that are considered by the Directors to be reasonably possible, which give rise to an
impairment of goodwill relating to the Digital CGU.

Having completed the 2023 impairmentreview, noimpairment has beenrecognised inrelation to the Digital CGU (2022: no impairment).
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Autorama
The Autoramaimpairment basisis assessed on a fair value basis due to the proximity of the transaction and the pre-integration phase
of the business at 31 March 2023.

Goodwillamounting to £92.5min the Autorama CGU arose on the acquisition of Autorama UK Limited in June 2022.

The acquisition willenable Auto Trader to establishitself as aleading marketplace for leasing new cars whichis set to benefit from:
the growth of electric cars ahead of the planned future UK ban on the sale of new petrol and diesel cars from 2030; new manufacturers
entering the UK market; lower take up of company car schemes; and a shift towards new digital distribution models. Leasing provides
consumers a cost-effective way to access anew car with amodel thatis consistent with any future move towards usership.

The consideration paid was to acquire the Autorama CGU inanarm’s length transaction. There have been no significant changesidentified
inthe Directors’ assessment of fair value arising from factors since acquisition. On this basis, the Directors consider that, as at 31 March 2023,
a fairvalue less cost to sell measurement provides the most appropriate and relevant evidence of the Autorama CGU's recoverable
amount.

Fairvalueisbased onthe price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date under current market conditions, less incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an
assetor CGU, excluding finance costs and income tax expense. The valuation viewpointis from that of a market participant and excludes
synergies and matters, including taxation, specific to the current owner. Anincome based fair valuation approach has been used to
determine fair value using discounted cash flows. The fair value measurement was categorised as Level 3 based on the valuationinputs used.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of the CGU’s recoverable amount are as follows:

2023
Forecast period 2024 -2032
Annualrevenue growth during the forecast period Between 5% and 69% p.a.
Terminalvalue growthrate 2.0%
Discountrate post tax 18.0%

Assessment of the CGU's fair value reflects long-term assumptions around changing distribution models for new car sales, including new
electricvehicles,and anincreased proportion of vehicles being leased. The key driver of the forecastis the number of new vehicles transacted
by Autorama onto lease plans, with revenues, including ancillary sales, consequent on each vehicle lease transaction completed. The
forecasts donotassume alarger new carregistration market thanin 2019, before the disruption to supply that commenced during the
COVID-19 pandemic. The key assumptionis rather anincrease in the current proportion of vehicles which are currently leased through
brokers and the share of this market achieved by Autorama. In making these estimates, management have had regard to market data
published by SMMT and BVRLA. In the nine months since the acquisition, Autorama has delivered 6,895 vehicles. Both vans and pickups
were particularlyimpacted by supply challengesin the currentyear.

Revenue growthis spread over the forecast periodin line with the new car market outlook. The risk arising from the duration of the
forecast period and the risk of growth assumptions over new vehicles transacted in this period not being achieved are reflected in the
higherlevel of post-tax discountrate applied.

Whilst an estimate, the comparison between the CGU'’s fair value less cost to sellandits book carrying value has headroom at 31 March 2023.
Thisheadroom arises because of the accounting requirement to expense £50m of the consideration paid to the former owners of Autorama
asanemployee share-based payment over the 12-month period after the acquisition to 22 June 2023 (see note 31). £38.8m of this charge
has been expensed as at 31 March 2023.

This headroomresultsin noimpairment charge under the following sensitivity scenarios, all of which reflect the key sources of estimation
uncertaintyin the calculation of fair value:

Lower number of vehicle transactions: The growthin vehicle transactions executed by Autorama, and therefore earnings before interest
andtax, is atrisk of growing atalevellower than the forecast. This sensitivity reduces volumes by 20% for financial year 2024 and financial
year2025toreflect theimpact of the risk of lower new vehicle supply caused by manufacturing delays; and

Delayintiming: The timing of growth in vehicle transactions may take longer torealise than the base case forecast due to a slower take
up of electric vehicles and lease financing; continued disruption to new car supply; and/or a delayin the phasing out timetable of new petrol
anddieselcars whichis currently scheduled for 2030. This sensitivity assumes growth is deferred by one year from financial year 2024; and

Changeindiscountrate: The post-tax discountrate could increase to a maximum of 21% before the carrying value of the Autorama CGU
exceeded itsrecoverable amount.
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14. Property, plant and equipment

Land, buildings

and leasehold Office
improvements equipment  Motorvehicles Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost
At 31 March 2021 16.5 13.0 1.9 31.4
Additions 6.6 1.3 0.2 8.1
Disposals and modifications - (0.4) (0.5) (0.9)
At 31 March 2022 231 13.9 1.6 38.6
Acquired through business combinations 4.0 0.3 1.0 5.3
Additions 2.2 2.0 0.3 4.5
Disposals (7.6) (3.0) (0.9) (11.5)
At 31 March 2023 21.7 13.2 2.0 36.9
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 March 2021 8.2 10.6 1.4 20.2
Charge fortheyear BeS 0.9 0.4 4.6
Disposals = (0.4) (0.5) (0.9)
At 31 March 2022 1.5 1.1 1.3 239
Charge for the year BB 1.1 0.5 4.9
Disposals (4.4) (2.8) (0.6) (7.8)
At 31 March 2023 10.4 9.4 1.2 21.0
Netbookvalue at 31 March 2023 1.3 3.8 0.8 15.9
Netbookvalue at 31 March 2022 1.6 2.8 0.3 14.7
Net book value at 31 March 2021 8.3 2.4 0.5 1.2

Included within property, plant and equipment are £6.5m (2022: £8.3m) of assets recognised as leases under IFRS16. Further details of
these leases are disclosedinnote15. The depreciation expense of £4.9m for the year to 31 March 2023 (2022: £4.6m) has beenrecorded
inoperating costs. During the year, £2.6m (2022: £0.4m) worth of property, plant and equipment with £nilnet book value was disposed of.
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15. Leases

The Group's lease assetsincluding land and buildings and motor vehicles are held within property, plant and equipment. Information about

leases for which the Groupis alesseeis presented below:

2023 2022
£m £m
Netbookvalue of property, plant and equipment owned 9.4 6.4
Net bookvalue of right of use assets 6.5 8.3
15.9 14.7
Land, buildings

and leasehold office
improvements equipment  Motorvehicles Total
Net book value of right of use assets £m £m £m £m
Balance at 31 March 2021 4.9 0.1 0.6 5.6
Additions 5.1 = 0.2 5.3
Depreciationcharge (2.2) - (0.4) (2.6)
Balance at 31 March 2022 7.8 0.1 0.4 8.3
Acquired through business combination 0.1 = 0.3 0.4
Additions 1.5 0.1 0.3 1.9
Disposals (1.4) - (0.1) (1.5)
Depreciationcharge (2.2) - (0.4) (2.6)
At 31 March 2023 5.8 0.2 0.5 6.5
2023 2022
Lease liabilities in the balance sheet at 31 March £m £m
Current 2.5 3.0
Non-current 4.6 6.5
Total 71 9.5

Amaturity analysis of contractualundiscounted cash flows relating to lease liabilities is presented within note 32. The term recognised
forcertainleases has assumed lease break options are exercised. Certain lease rentals are subject to periodic market rental reviews.

During the year, the Group relocated its London office to anew premises and exited its existing lease. Inaccordance with IFRS 16,
the difference between the carrying value of the right of use asset and the lease liability at the date of the lease termination (£0.1m)
wasrecognisedin the Consolidated income statement as a gainondisposal.

Inthe prioryear, the Group entered into a new lease arrangement to rent an additional 16,000 square feet in our Manchester office to

supportthe needs of our growing workforce. The Group also extended the term of the existing lease of our Manchester office space.

These changes resultedin alease modificationunder IFRS16. The right of use assets were increased by £5.1m with corresponding
adjustments to the lease liability and dilapidations provision.

2023 2022
Amounts chargedintheincome statement £m £m
Depreciation charge of right of use assets 2.6 2.6
Interest on lease liabilities 0.2 0.2
Gainondisposal of right of use assets (0.1) -
Totalamounts chargedinthe income statement 2.7 2.8

2023 2022
Cashoutflow £m £m
Total cash outflow for leases 2.9 3.2
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16. Netinvestmentsinjoint ventures

Joint ventures are contractual arrangements over which the Group exercises joint control with partners and where the parties have rights

tothe netassets of the arrangement, irrespective of the Group’s shareholding in the entity.

The Group owns 49% of the ordinary share capital of Dealer Auction Limited (previously Dealer Auction (Holdings) Limited). The basis of
the Group's joint controlis through ashareholder agreement and an assessment of the substantive rights of each shareholder, including

operationalbarriers orincentives that would prevent or deter rights being exercised.

Netinvestmentsinjointventures at thereporting date include the Group’s equity investmentin joint ventures and the Group’s share of the
jointventures’ postacquisition netassets. The table below reconciles the movementin the Group’s netinvestmentinjointventuresin the year:

Equityinvestments
injointventures

Share of post
acquisition net
assets

Netinvestmentsin
jointventures

£m £m £m
Carrying value
As at 31 March 2021 48.1 6.5 54.6
Share of result for the year taken to the income statement - 2.9 29
Dividendsreceivedintheyear (7.8) = (7.8)
As at 31 March 2022 40.3 9.4 49.7
Share of result for the year taken to the income statement = 2.5 2.5
Dividendsreceivedintheyear (2.9) = (2.9)
As at 31 March 2023 37.4 1.9 49.3
Setout belowis the summarised financialinformation for the joint venture, adjusted for differences in accounting policies between
the Group and the joint venture. The table alsoreconciles the summarised financialinformation to the carrying amount of the Group's
interestinthejointventure.
2023 2022
£m £m
Non-current assets 95.6 96.8
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6.4 1.1
Other current assets 1.3 8.2
Total assets 103.3 106.1
Liabilities
Current liabilities 2.0 4.0
Totalliabilities 2.0 4.0
Net assets 101.3 102.1
Group’s share of net assets 49.3 49.7
2023 2022
£m £m
Revenues 10.5 12.0
Profit for the year 5.2 6.0
Totalcomprehensiveincome 5.2 6.0
Group’s share of comprehensive income 2.5 29
Dividends received by the Group 29 7.8

Non-current assets principally comprise goodwill and otherintangible assets. The carrying value is assessed annually using a methodology

consistent with the Auto Trader cash-generating unit disclosed in note 13.

Alist of theinvestmentsinjointventures, including the name, country of incorporation and proportion of ownership interest, is givenin note 35.
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17. Other investments

Sharesinother undertakings

2023 2022

£m £m

InvestmentiniAUTOS Company Limited - -
Investmentin protectedinsurance cell (AdventInsurance PCC Limited) 1.1 -
Investmentin protectedinsurance cell (Atlas Insurance PCC Limited) 1.2 =
Total comprehensiveincome 2.3 -

The Group designated the investmentiniAUTOS Company Limited as an equity security at FVOCI as the Group intends to hold the shares
forlong-term purposes.iAUTOS Company Limitedis anintermediate holding company through which trading companiesincorporated
inthe People’s Republic of China are held. The fair value of the investment has been valued at £nil since 2014 as the Chinese trading
companies are marginally loss-making with forecast future cash outflows.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Autorama Holding (Malta) Limited, had aninterest in two protected insurance
cells. During the year, the Group entered into a new arrangement with Atlas Insurance PCC Limited, with the intention of closing the
existing cell with Advent Insurance PCC Limited once the portfolio transferhad been made to the new cell. This process was not fully
complete by 31 March 2023, therefore two investments have been recognised. It has designated itsinvestments as equity securities
atFVOCI as the Group intends to hold the investmentin the protected insurance cell for long-term purposes.

The protectedinsurance cell writesinsurance business which relates to Guaranteed Asset Protectioninsurance and business equipment
intransit. The interestinthe protectedinsurance cellis not consolidatedin these financial statements as asilo, as the cellcompany has
retained residual obligationsinrespect of the cell’s liabilities. Autorama UK Limited is listed as a guarantor to an agreement between the
cellcompany and Autorama Holding (Malta) Limited.

18. Trade and other receivables

2023 2022

£m £m

Trade receivables (invoiced) 28.5 25.7
Netaccruedincome 38.7 34.6
Tradereceivables (total) 67.2 60.3
Prepayments 5.4 5.5
Otherreceivables 0.3 0.1
Total 729 65.9

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of business. They are generally due
forsettlementwithin 30 days and therefore are all classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration thatisunconditionaland has beeninvoiced atthe reporting date. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective
to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Included within trade receivables (invoiced) is a provision for the impairment of financial assets of £3.0m (2022: £2.5m).

Accruedincome relates to the Group’srights to consideration for services provided but notinvoiced at the reporting date. Accrued income
istransferred toreceivables wheninvoiced. Included within net accrued income is provision for the impairment of financial assets of £1.5m

(2022: £1.2m).

Exposure to creditriskand expected credit losses relating to trade and otherreceivables are disclosed in note 32.
19. Inventories

In Autorama, the Group temporarily takes a small proportion of new vehicle deliveries on balance sheet as principal, which are held
withininventory.

2023 2022

£m £m
Finished goods 3.6 =
Inventories 3.6 =
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20. Cash and cash equivalents

Cashatbankandinhandis denominatedinthe following currencies:

2023 2022

£m £m

Sterling 16.6 51.0
Euro - 0.3
Cash atbank andin hand 16.6 51.3

Cashbalances with an original maturity of less than three months were held in current accounts during the year and attracted interest

ataweighted average rate of 0.7%(2022: 0.2%).

21. Trade and other payables

2023 2022

£m £m

Trade payables 8.0 2.7
Accruals 15.8 14.4
Other taxes and social security 16.9 21.3
Deferredincome 5.7 3.0
Vehicle stocking loan 3.0 =
Other payables 3.9 0.5
Accruedinterest payable 0.3 0.1
Total 53.6 42.0

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. The carrying amounts of trade and other payables

are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature.

22.Borrowings

2023 2022
Non-current £m £m
Syndicated RCF gross of unamortised debtissue costs 60.0 =
Unamortised debtissue costs on Syndicated RCF (2.5) (1.4)
Total 57.5 (1.4)

2023 2022
Current £m £m
Loan from otherinvestment 1.1 -
Total 1.1 =
Totalborrowings 58.6 (1.4)

Unamortised debtissue costs on the Syndicated RCFincreased to £2.5min the year (2022: £1.4m) following the amendment and restatement
of the Group’s Syndicated RCF facility. At 31 March 2022, unamortised debtissue costs were within Prepayments.

Borrowings are repayable as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Lessthanoneyear 1.1 =
Two to five years 60.0 =
Total 61.1 =

The carrying amounts of borrowings approximates to their fair values.
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Syndicated revolving credit facility (‘Syndicated RCF’)
The Group has access to anunsecured Syndicated revolving credit facility (the ‘Syndicated RCF’). Associated debt transaction costs
total£5.9m, with £3.3m beingincurred atinitiation and £2.6m of additional costs associated with extension requests.

With effect from1February 2023 the Group entered into an Amendment and Restatement Agreement to extend the term of the facility for
five years from the date of signing and to reduce the capacity of the facility to £200.0m. There isno requirement to settle all or part of the
facility before the termination date of February 2028.The associated debt transaction costs were £1.6m, of which £1.4m was paidin the
period to 31 March 2023.

Individual tranches are drawn down, in sterling, for periods of up to sixmonths at the compounded reference rate (being the aggregate
of SONIA for thatinterest period) plus a margin of between1.2% and 2.1% depending on the consolidated leverage ratio of the Group.
Acommitment fee of 35% of the margin applicable to the Syndicated RCF is payable quarterly in arrears on unutilised amounts of the
total facility.

The Syndicated RCF has financial covenants linked to interest cover and the consolidated debt cover of the Group:

+ Netbankdebtto EBITDA mustnotexceed 3.5:1.
- EBITDAto netinterest payable mustnotbe less than 3.0:1.

EBITDAis defined as earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation, share-based payments and associated NI,
share of profit fromjoint ventures and exceptionalitems.

All financial covenants of the facility have been complied with through the period.

Loan from otherinvestment

During the year, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Autorama Holding (Malta) Limited, elected to transfer the insurance portfolio held
inaprotectedinsurance cell with Advent Insurance PCC Limited to Atlas Insurance PCC Limited. As part of this process, Advent Insurance
PCC Limitedissued aloanto Autorama Holding (Malta) Limited to fund the investmentin the new protected insurance celluntil the portfolio
transfer was complete. This processis likely to be completed within the next12 months. As at 31 March 2023, £1.1m was recognised on the
Consolidated balance sheet (2022: £nil).

Exposure tointerestrate changes
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings (excluding debt issue costs) to SONIArate changes and the contractualrepricing dates at the
balance sheetdate are as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

One monthorless 60.0 =

Total 60.0 =
23. Provisions

Dilapidations Holiday pay

provision provision Total

£m £m £m

At 31 March 2022 1.3 0.7 2.0

Charged to theincome statement = 0.7 0.7

Recognised under IFRS 16 0.1 = 0.1

Utilisedin theyear (0.1) (0.7) (0.8)

At 31 March 2023 1.3 0.7 2.0

2023 2022

£m £m

Current 0.7 0.7

Non-current 1.3 1.3

Total 2.0 2.0
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24. Deferred taxation

Anetdeferredtaxliability of £5.8m has beenrecognisedin the balance sheet at 31 March 2023. The movementin deferred taxation assets and
liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same taxjurisdiction, is as follows:

Accelerated

Share-based capital Othertemporary

payments allowances differences Total

Deferred taxation assets £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2021 2.7 3.0 0.3 6.0
Credited to theincome statement 0.3 (0.2) 0.5 0.6
Debited directly to equity (0.2) = = (0.2)
At 31 March 2022 2.8 2.8 0.8 6.4
(Debited)/credited to theincome statement 1.1 (0.9) (0.5) (0.3)
Debited directly to equity (0.2) - - (0.2)
Acquired through business combinations - - 6.8 6.8
At 31 March 2023 3.7 1.9 74 12.7

Acquired Othertemporary

intangible assets differences Total

Deferred taxation liabilities £m £m £m
At 31 March 2021 - 4.3 4.3
Credited to theincome statement - 0.5 0.5
Debited to the statement of comprehensive income = 0.2 0.2
At 31 March 2022 - 5.0 5.0
Credited to theincome statement (1.2) (0.5) (1.7)
Debited to the statement of comprehensiveincome - (1.1) (1.1)
Acquired through business combinations 16.3 = 16.3
At 31 March 2023 15.1 3.4 18.5
Net deferred tax assetat 3t March 2022 14
Net deferred tax liability at 31 March 2023 5.8

The Group has estimated that £1.5m (2022: £0.9m) of the Group’s net deferred income tax liability will be realised in the next12 months.
Thisismanagement’s current best estimate and may notreflect the actual outcomein the next12 months.

Deferred tax assets acquired through business combinations totalled £6.8m (2022: £nil). Thisincludes £7.7mrelating to tax losses of fset
by a £0.9m deferred taxliability linked to a fair value adjustment on freehold property. Recognitionis on the basis that there are sufficient
taxable temporary liability differences at the balance sheet date arising from acquired intangibles which are expected to reverse over
the same time period thatlosses are expected to be used.

25. Retirement benefit obligations

(i) Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes. Inthe year to 31 March 2023, the pension contributions to the Group's
defined contribution schemes amounted to £3.5m (2022: £3.2m). At 31 March 2023, there were £0.6m (31 March 2022: £0.5m) of pension
contributions outstanding relating to the Group’s defined contribution schemes.

(ii) Defined benefit scheme

The Company sponsors a funded defined benefit pension scheme for qualifying UK employees, the Wiltshire (Bristol) Limited Retirement
Benefits Scheme (‘the Scheme’). The Schemeis administered by a separate board of Trustees, whichislegally separate from the Company.
The Trustees are composed of representatives of both the Company and members. The Trustees are required by law to actinthe interest
of allrelevant beneficiaries and are responsible for the investment policy for the assets and the day-to-day administration of the benefits.

The Scheme has been closed to future members since 30 April 2006 and there are no remaining active members within the Scheme.
No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

Profile of the Scheme

As at 31 March 2023, approximately 42% of the defined benefit obligation (‘DBO’) is attributable to former employees who have yet to
reachretirement (2022: 57%) and 58% to current pensioners (2022: 43%). The Scheme durationis anindicator of the weighted-average
time until benefit payments are made. For the Scheme as awhole, the durationis approximately 16 years (2022: 20 years).

Buy-in

InOctober 2022, the Scheme purchased abulk annuity policy (known as a buy-in) from Just Retirement Limited (Just Retirement’) for £15.4m, which
was funded by a £1.0m contribution by the Company along with existing Scheme assets. This policy secured the full benefits of all Scheme
members, which as at the remeasurement date amounted to £13.7m. Given the financial strength of Just Retirement, this buy-in substantively
removes the risk of further contributions being required from the Company to provide benefits to members, beyond those noted below.
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Following the buy-in, the Scheme’s assets largely comprise the bulk annuity policy held with Just Retirement, along with a smallamount
of additional assets currently held with LGIM. The Scheme trustees are now working to progress towards a full buy-out, which willinvolve
various data and benefits exercises. Itis anticipated that the Scheme buy-out will be completedin 2024. Once the buy-outis complete,
the Scheme has no further purpose and will be wound up.

Funding requirements

UK legislationrequires that pension schemes are funded prudently. The ongoing funding valuation of the Scheme was carried out by
aqualified actuary as at 30 April 2021 and showed a surplus of £1.5m. The Company paid deficit contributions of £0.1m perannum to
31January 2022, plus an additional £1.0min October 2022 inrespect of the shortfall versus the buy-in premium. The next funding valuation
isdue no later than 30 April 2024, althoughitis anticipated that the Scheme will be bought-out and wound-up before the statutory
deadline for this valuation. The Company expects that a further contribution may be requiredin the year ending 31 March 2024 inrespect
of the balancing premium, once the data cleansing and benefit rectificationis completed. The Company also pays expenses and PPF
leviesincurred by the Scheme.

Risks associated with the Scheme
The Scheme exposes the Company to some risks, although the purchase of a buy-in policy substantially mitigates these.

Assetvolatility The liabilities are calculated using a discountrate set with reference to corporate bondyields. If assets
underperform thisyield, this will create a deficit. The Scheme previously held a significant proportion of
giltand bond assets which limits volatility and riskin the short term. The allocation of assets is monitored
toensureitremains appropriate given the Scheme’s long-term objectives.

Inflation risk Aproportion of the Scheme’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and higherinflation leads to
higher liabilities (although, in most cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect
against extreme inflation). The majority of the assets are either unaffected by or only loosely correlated
withinflation, meaning thatanincrease ininflation will also increase the deficit.

Changeinbondyields Adecreasein corporate bondyields willincrease the value placed on the Scheme’s liabilities for
accounting purposes, although this will be partially offset by anincrease in the value of the Scheme's
bond holdings.

Life expectancy The majority of the Scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the lifetime of the member,
soincreasesin life expectancy willresultinanincreasein the liabilities.

Assumptions used

Theresults of the latest funding valuation at 30 April 2021 have been adjusted to the new balance sheet date, taking account of
experience over the period since 30 April 2021, changes in market conditions, and differences in the financial and demographic
assumptions. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current service cost, were measured using the
projectedunit credit method.

The principalassumptions used to calculate the liabilities under IAS 19 are as follows:

2023 2022

% %

Discount rate for scheme liabilities 4.70 2.75

CPlinflation 2.85 3.00

RPlinflation 3.55 3.80
Pensionincreases

Post1988 GMP 2.20 2.35

Pre 2004 non GMP 5.00 5.00

Post2004 3.25 3.55

The financial assumptions reflect the nature and term of the Scheme's liabilities. The weighted average duration of the Scheme liabilities
attheyearendis16years(2022: 20 years). Thisreductionis due to the discount rate increase whichis the principalreason for the
decreaseinthe value of Scheme liabilities compared with the prior year.

The Group has assumed that mortality will be in line with nationally published mortality table SAPS S3 Heavy tables with CMI 2021
projectionsrelated to members’ years of birth with long-termrate of improvement of 1.5% per annum. No adjustment has been made
for the possible effects of COVID-19. These tables translate into an average life expectancy for a pensioner retiring at age 65 as follows:

2023 2022
Men Women Men Women

Years Years Years Years

Member aged 65 (current life expectancy) 86.7 89.0 86.6 88.3
Member aged 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 88.4 90.8 88.6 90.1

Itis assumed that 50% of non-retired members of the Scheme will commute the maximum amount of cash at retirement (2022: 50% of
non-retired members of the Scheme willcommute the maximum amount of cash atretirement).
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25. Retirement benefit obligations continued

Post-employment benefit obligations disclosures
The amounts charged to the Consolidated income statement are set out below:

2023 2022

£m £m

Past service cost 0.5 =
Settlementcost 2.2 =
Totalamounts charged to the Consolidated income statement 2.7 =

Past service cost

As part of the data cleansing exercise ahead of the Scheme’s buy-in, two items relating to the Barber window inrelation to transferred in
assets and aslightly later effective date for pensionincreases were identified. As aresult,a £0.5m past service cost has beenrecognised
inthe Consolidatedincome statement (2022: £nil).

Currentservice costs and past service costs are charged to theincome statementin arriving at Operating profit. Interestincome
on Scheme assets and the interest cost on Scheme liabilities are included within finance costs.

Settlement cost

Giventheintentionis to convert the buy-in policy purchased during the year to a buy-out as soon as possible, a settlement cost of
£2.2mhasbeenrecognisedinthe Consolidatedincome statement for the year ended 31 March 2023. The settlement cost represents
the difference between the value of the liabilities under IAS19 at the remeasurement date, 31 October 2022, (£13.2m) and the price paid
to settle the liabilities (£15.4m).

The following amounts have beenrecognisedin the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

2023 2022
£m £m
Return on Scheme assets (in excess of)/below thatrecognisedinnetinterest 5.9 1.6
Actuarial gains due to changesin assumptions (4.8) (1.8)
Actuariallosses/(gains) due to liability experience 0.4 (0.2)
Effect of the surplus cap - =
Deferred taxonsurplus (1.1) 0.2
Total amounts recognised within the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 0.4 (0.2)
Amountsrecognisedin the balance sheet are as follows:
2023 2022
£m £m
Presentvalue of funded obligations 13.6 17.5
Fairvalue of plan assets (14.1) (21.2)
Net assetrecognised in the Consolidated balance sheet (0.5) (3.7)

The Trustees of the Scheme sought legal advice which concluded that the Group has anunconditional right to a refund of surplus from
the Scheme, if the Scheme were to be run-off until the final beneficiary died. As aresult, the Group has concluded that IFRIC 14 does not
apply, and therefore hasrecognised the accounting surplus of £0.5m (2022: £3.7m) and an associated deferred tax liability of £0.2m
(2022: £1.3m) in the Consolidated balance sheet.
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Movementsinthe fair value of Scheme assets were as follows:

2023 2022
£m £m
Fairvalue of Scheme assets at the beginning of the year 21.2 22.8
Interestincome on Scheme assets 0.5 0.5
Remeasurement losses on Scheme assets (5.9) (1.6)
Contributions by the employer 1.0 0.1
Settlements (2.2) -
Net benefits paid (0.5) (0.6)
Fair value of Scheme assets at the end of the year 14.1 21.2
Movementsin the fair value of Scheme liabilities were as follows:
2023 2022
£m £m
Fairvalue of Scheme liabilities at the beginning of the year 17.5 19.6
Pastservice cost 0.5 =
Interest expense 0.5 0.5
Actuarialgains on Scheme liabilities arising from changes in assumptions (4.8) (1.8)
Actuariallosses/(gains) on Scheme liabilities arising from experience 0.4 (0.2)
Settlements - =
Net benefits paid (0.5) (0.6)
Fair value of Scheme liabilities at the end of the year 13.6 17.5
Movementsin post-employment benefit net obligations were as follows:
2023 2022
£m £m
Opening post-employment benefit surplus (3.7) (3.2)
Pastservice cost 0.5 =
Settlement cost 2.2 =
Contributions by the employer (1.0) (0.1)
Remeasurement and experience (gains)/losses 1.5 (0.4)
Closing post-employment benefit surplus (0.5) (3.7)
Plan assets are comprised as follows:
2023 2022
£m % £m %
Equities - - - -
Gilts 0.4 3.5 13.7 65.0
Bonds - - 7.2 34.0
Cash 0.1 0.7 0.3 1.0
Buy-in policy 13.6 95.8 = =
Total 14.1 100.0 21.2 100.0

Allplan assets have a quoted market price.

Sensitivity to key assumptions
The key financial assumptions used for IAS19 are the discount and inflation rates. Given that the Scheme'’s buy-in policy is valued exactly
equaltothe DBO, changesin the key assumptions no longer have anyimpact on the net funded status position.
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26. Share capital
2023 2022

Number Amount Number Amount
Share capital ‘000 ‘000 £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 1p each
At1April 946,893 9.5 969,024 9.7
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (23,831) (0.2) (22,198) (0.2)
Issue of shares 13 0.0 67 0.0
Total 923,075 9.3 946,893 9.5

Inthe yearended 31 March 2017, the Company commenced a share buyback programme. By resolutions passed at the 2022 AGM,

the Company’s shareholders generally authorised the Company to make market purchases of up to 96,678,535 of its ordinary shares,
subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions. In the year ended 31 March 2023, a total of 25,261,584 ordinary shares of £0.01

were purchased. The average price paid was 582.1p with a total consideration paid (including fees of £0.7m) of £148.0m. Of all shares
purchased,1,430,372 were held in treasury with 23,831,212 being cancelled. In the year ended 31 March 2023,12,893 ordinary shares were

issued for the settlement of share-based payments.

Included within sharesinissue at 31 March 2023 are 340,196 (2022: 358,158) shares held by the ESOT and 4,371,505 (2022: 3,826,928) shares

heldintreasury, as detailedin note 27.

27.Ownshares held
ESOT shares

reserve Treasury shares Total
Oownshares held -£m £m £m £m
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2021 (0.5) (10.2) (10.7)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 0.1 = 0.1
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - (17.8) (17.8)
Share-basedincentives exercised = 6.0 6.0
Own shares held as at 31 March 2022 (0.4) (22.0) (22.4)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury = (8.7) (8.7)
Share-basedincentives exercised = 5.1 5.1
Own shares held as at 31 March 2023 (0.4) (25.6) (26.0)

ESOT shares

reserve Treasury shares Total
Ownshares held - number Number of shares Number of shares Number of shares
Own shares held as at 31 March 2021 404,653 2,422,659 2,827,312
Transfer of shares from ESOT (46,495) = (46,495)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - 2,718,193 2,718,193
Share-basedincentives exercised = (1,313,924) (1,313,924)
Own shares held as at 31 March 2022 358,158 3,826,928 4,185,086
Transfer of shares from ESOT (17.962) - (17,962)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - 1,430,372 1,430,372
Share-basedincentives exercised - (885,795) (885,795)
Ownsshares held as at 31 March 2023 340,196 4,371,505 4,711,701
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28. Dividends

Dividends declared and paid by the Company were as follows:

2023 2022
Pence Pence
pershare £m pershare £m
2022 finaldividend paid 5.5 51.7 5.0 48.0
2023 interim dividend paid 2.8 26.0 2.7 25.6
8.3 77.7 7.7 73.6

The proposed finaldividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 of 5.6p per share, totalling £51.4m, is subject to approval by shareholders
atthe Annual General Meeting ('"AGM’) and hence has not beenincluded as aliability in the financial statements.

The Directors’ policy withregard to future dividends is set outin the Financialreview on page 25.

29. Cash generated from operations

2023 2022
£m £m
Profit after tax 233.9 244.7
Adjustments for:
Taxcharge 59.7 56.3
Depreciation 4.9 4.6
Amortisation 9.2 2.6
Share-based payments charge (excluding associated NI) 5.8 5.1
Deferred contingent consideration 38.8 =
Share of profit fromjoint ventures (2.5) (2.9)
Profitonsale of property, plant and equipment (0.7) =
Net lease disposals and modifications (0.1) -
Postemployment expensesrelating to the defined benefit scheme 2.7 =
Finance costs 3.1 2.6
R&D expenditure credit (0.1) (0.1)
Profiton disposal of asubsidiary (19.1) =
Changesinworking capital (excluding the effects of exchange differences on consolidation):
Trade and otherreceivables (3.6) (5.3)
Trade and other payables (1.9) 20.5
Inventory (2.7) =
Cash generated from operations 327.4 328.1
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30. Share-based payments

The Group currently operates five share plans: the Share Incentive Plan, Performance Share Plan, Deferred Annual Bonus, Single Incentive
Plan Award and the Sharesave scheme. All share-basedincentives are subject to a service condition. Such conditions are not taken
into accountin the fairvalue of the service received. The fair value of servicesreceivedinreturn for share-based incentivesis measured
by reference to the fair value of share-based incentives granted. Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo models have beenused where
appropriate to calculate the fair value of share-based incentives with market conditions.

The totalchargeinthe periodrelating to the five schemes was £6.6m (2022: £6.1m). This included associated nationalinsurance (‘NI)
attherate at whichmanagement expects to be effective when the awards are exercised (13.80%), and apprenticeship levy at 0.5%,
based on the share price at the reporting date.

In addition to this charge, the share-based payment charge reported in this period includes £38.8mrelating to deferred share-based
payment considerationrelating to the acquisition of Autorama (see note 31), making a totalcombined charge of £44.6m (excluding
associated NI).

Group Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m £m £m £m
Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’) - = - =
Sharesave scheme (‘SAYE’) 0.5 0.7 - =
Performance Share Plan ('PSP’) 1.9 1.3 1.9 1.3
Deferred Annual Bonus and Single Incentive Plan 3.4 3.1 0.4 0.2
Nland apprenticeship levy on applicable schemes 0.8 1.0 0.3 0.3
Total charge from ongoing share schemes 6.6 6.1 2.6 1.8
Share-based payments relating to Autorama acquisition 38.8 = - =
Totalcharge 45.4 6.1 2.6 1.8

During the year, the Directorsin office in total had gains of £1.4m (2022: £2.8m) arising on the exercise of share-based incentive awards.

Share Incentive Plan

In 2015, the Group established a Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’). All eligible employees were awarded free shares (or nil-cost optionsin the
case of employeesinireland)valued at £3,600 each based onthe share price at the time of the Company’s admission to the Stock
Exchangein March 2015.

UK SIP
2023 2022
Number Number
Outstanding at1April 116,808 163,157
Released (20,493) (46,349)
Outstanding at 31 March 96,315 116,808
Vested and outstanding at 31 March 96,315 116,808

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for SIP awards released was 578.0p (2022: 622.5p). The SIP shares outstanding at
31March 2023 have fully vested (2022: fully vested). Shares released prior to the vesting date relate to those attributable to good leavers
as defined by the Scheme rules.

Performance Share Plan

The Group operates a Performance Share Plan ('PSP’) for Executive Directors, the Operational Leadership Team and certain key
employees. The extent to which awards vest willdepend upon the Group’s performance over the three-year period following the award
date. Both market based and non-market based performance conditions may be attached to the options, for which an appropriate
adjustmentis made when calculating the fair value of an option. If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date
of grant, the options expire. Furthermore, options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest, unless under
exceptional circumstances.

0On23June 2022, the Group awarded 360,695 nil cost options under the PSP scheme. For the 2022 awards, the Group's performance is measured
byreference to growthin Operating profit (70% of the award), Revenue (20% of the award) and Carbon reduction (10% of the award) overa
three-year period to March 2025.

Forother previous awards, the Group's performance had been measured by reference to growth in Operating profit and Revenue over a
three-year period, total shareholder return relative to the FTSE 350 share index (2017 and 2020 awards), and diversity progress (2021 awards).
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The fair value of the 2022 award was determined to be the share price at grant date. In previous years, the total shareholder return
elementwas valued using the Monte Carlo model. The resulting share-based payments charge is being spread evenly over the period

between the grantdate and the vesting date.

PSP award holders are entitled to receive dividends accruing between the grant date and the vesting date and this value will be delivered
inshares. The assumptions usedin the measurement of the fair value at grant date of the PSP awards are as follows:

Expected
Share price at Exercise volatility Optionlife Risk-free Dividend Non-vesting Fairvalue per
Grantdate Condition grantdate £ price£ % years rate % yield%  condition% option£
16 June 2017 TSR dependent 4.00 Nil 31 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 217
16 June 2017 OP dependent 4.00 Nil N/A 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 4.00
30 August 2017 TSRdependent 3.42 Nil 31 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 217
30 August 2017 OPdependent 3.42 Nil N/A 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 3.42
17 August 2018 OP dependent 4.48 Nil N/A 3.0 0.7 1.7 0.0 4.48
17 August 2018 Revenue dependent 4.48 Nil N/A 3.0 0.7 1.7 0.0 4.48
17 June 2019 OP dependent 5.65 Nil N/A 3.0 0.6 1.3 0.0 5.65
17 June 2019 Revenue dependent 5.65 Nil N/A 3.0 0.6 1.3 0.0 5.65
8July 2020 TSRdependent 5.27 Nil 32 3.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 2.83
17 June 2021 OPdependent 6.29 Nil N/A 3.0 0.2 0.9 0.0 6.29
17 June 2021 Revenue dependent 6.29 Nil N/A 3.0 0.2 0.9 0.0 6.29
17 June 2021 Diversity progress dependent 6.29 Nil N/A 3.0 0.2 0.9 0.0 6.29
23June 2022 OPdependent 5.31 Nil N/A 3.0 2.0 1.3 0.0 5.31
23 June 2022 Revenue dependent 5.31 Nil N/A 3.0 2.0 1.3 0.0 5.31
23June 2022  Carbonreductiondependent 5.31 Nil N/A 3.0 2.0 1.3 0.0 5.31
Expectedvolatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date.
The number of options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March 2023 was as follows:
Number Number
Outstanding at1April 1,401,701 1,741,829
Options grantedin the year 360,695 368,361
Dividend shares awarded 8,319 2916
Options forfeitedin the year (129,684) (344,766)
Options exercisedinthe year (241,047) (366,639)
Outstanding at 31 March 1,399,984 1,401,701
Exercisable at 31 March 79,348 181,875

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for PSP options exercised in 2023 was 587.2p (2022: 639.5p). The PSP awards
outstanding at 31 March 2023 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 1.0 years (2022:1.2 years) and a weighted average

contractuallife of 7.9 years (2022: 7.9 years).
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30. Share-based payments continued

Deferred Annual Bonus and Single Incentive Plan Award

The Group operates the Deferred Annual Bonus and Single Incentive Plan Award for Executive Directors, the Operational Leadership Team
and certain key employees. The plan consists of two schemes, the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan ('DABP’) and the Single Incentive Plan Award
("SIPA).

Deferred Annual Bonus

The Group operates a Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (‘DABP’) for Executive Directors. Awards under the plan are contingent on the
satisfaction of pre-setinternaltargetsrelating to financial and operational objectives. The extent to which the awards vest willdepend
upon the satisfaction of the Group's financial and operational performance in the financial year of the award date (the ‘Performance
Conditions’). The awards will vest on the second anniversary of the date the Remuneration Committee determines that the Performance
Conditions have been satisfied (the ‘Vesting Period’). Awards are potentially forfeitable during that period should the employee leave
employment. The DABP awards have been valued using the Black-Scholes method where appropriate and the resulting share-based
payments chargeis being spread evenly over the combined Performance Period and Vesting Period of the shares, being three years.

On 23 June 2022, the Group awarded 108,704 nil cost options under the DABP scheme (2022: nil). DABP award holders are entitled to
receive dividends accruing between the grant date and the vesting date and this value will be delivered in shares. The assumptions used
inthe measurement of the fair value at grant date of the DABP awards are as follows:

Share price at Non-vesting Fairvalue per

grantdate Exercise price Option life Risk-freerate Dividendyield condition option

Grantdate £ £ years % % % £

17 August 2018 4.48 Nil 2.0 0.7 1.7 0.0 4.48

17 June 2019 5.65 Nil 2.0 0.6 1.3 0.0 5.65

23 June 2022 5.31 Nil 2.0 2.0 1.3 0.0 5.31
The number of options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March was as follows:

2023 2022

Number Number

Outstanding at1April - 121,289

Options grantedin the year 108,704 -

Dividend shares awarded - 1,211

Options exercisedinthe year - (122,500)

Outstanding at 31 March 108,704 =

Exercisable at 31 March - -

No DABP options were exercised in 2023; the weighted average market value per ordinary share for DABP options exercised in 2022 was 640.7p.

Single Incentive Plan Award

The Group operates a Single Incentive Plan Award (‘SIPA") for the Operational Leadership Team and certain key employees. The extent
towhich awards vest willdepend upon the satisfaction of the Group’s financial and operational performance in the financial year of

the award date (the ‘Performance Conditions’). The awards will vestin tranches, with the first tranche vesting on the date on which the
Remuneration Committee determines that the Performance Conditions have been satisfied, and subsequent tranches vesting on the first
andsecond anniversary of this date, subject to continuing employment.

On 23 June 2022, the Group awarded 681,586 nil cost options under the SIPA scheme. For the 2022 awards, 75% of the award value is
dependenton FY23 Operating profit and the remaining 25%is subject to successfulimplementation of digitalretailing related products
by 31 March 2023. The fair value of the 2022 award was determined to be £5.31 per option, being the share price at grant date.

Theresulting share-based payments chargeis being spread evenly over the period between the grant date and the vesting date. SIPA
holders are entitled to receive dividends accruing between the grant date and the vesting date and this value will be delivered in shares.

The assumptions usedin the measurement of the fair value at grant date of the SIPA awards are as follows:

Share price at Exercise  Expected Dividend Non-vesting Fairvalue per

grantdate price volatility ~ Optionlife Risk-freerate yield  condition option

Grantdate £ £ % years % % % £
17 August 2018 4.48 Nil N/A 3.0 0.7 1.7 0.0 4.48
17 June 2019 5.65 Nil N/A 3.0 0.6 1.3 0.0 5.65
8July 2020 5.27 Nil N/A 3.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 5.27
24 November 2020 5.52 Nil N/A 3.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 5.52
17 June 2021 6.29 Nil N/A 3.0 0.2 0.9 0.0 6.29
23 June 2022 5.31 Nil N/A 3.0 2.0 1.3 0.0 5.31
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The number of options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March was as follows:

2023 2022

Number Number
Outstanding at1April 1,291,868 1,012,199
Options grantedin the year 681,586 718,634
Dividend shares awarded 5,710 5,440
Options exercisedinthe year (214,290) (429,283)
Options forfeitedin the year (247,108) (15,122)
Outstanding at 31 March 1,517,766 1,291,868
Exercisable at 31 March 412,346 179,065

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for SIPA options exercised in 2023 was 601.1p (2022: 646.2p). The SIPA awards
outstanding at 31 March 2023 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 1.2 years (2022: 0.8 years) and a weighted average
contractuallife of 8.2 years (2022: 8.6 years). The charge for the yearincludes an estimate of the awards to be granted after the balance
sheetdateinrespectof achievement of 2021 targets.

Sharesave scheme

The Group operates a Sharesave (‘SAYE’) scheme for allemployees under which employees are granted an option to purchase ordinary
sharesinthe Company atup to 20% less than the market price atinvitation,in three years’ time, dependent on their enteringinto a
contract to make monthly contributions into a savings account over the relevant period. Options are granted and are linked to a savings
contract with aterm of three years. These funds are used to fund the option exercise. No performance criteria are applied to the exercise
of Sharesave options. The assumptions used in the measurement of the fair value at grant date of the Sharesave plan are as follows:

Share price at Exercise Expected Dividend Non-vesting Fairvalue per

grantdate price volatility Optionlife Risk-freerate yield condition option

Grantdate £ £ % years % % % £
14 December 2018 4.48 3.49 29 3.0 0.7 1.7 16 1.29
13 December 2019 5.74 4.32 25 3.0 0.6 1.3 10 1.63
16 December 2020 5.75 4.4 32 3.0 0.0 0.5 10 1.86
16 December 2021 713 5.88 32 3.0 0.5 0.5 10 2.05
14 December 2022 5.64 4.56 34 3.0 3.2 1.3 10 1.87

Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date. The requirement that an employee
hastosaveinordertopurchase sharesunder the Sharesave planis a non-vesting condition. This feature has beenincorporatedinto the
fairvalue atgrant date by applying adiscount to the valuation obtained from the Black-Scholes pricing model.

2023 2022
Weighted average Weighted average
Number of share exerciseprice  Numberofshare exercise price
options £ options £
Outstanding at1April 1,446,582 4.72 1,505,816 3.88
Options grantedin the year 688,115 4.56 482,325 5.88
Options exercisedinthe year (406,060) 3.86 (446,884) 3.21
Options lapsedin the year (362,285) 5.39 (94,675) 4.38
Outstanding at 31 March 1,366,352 4.72 1,446,582 4.72
Exercisable at 31 March 53,892 4.32 242,707 3.49

The weighted average market value perordinary share for Sharesave options exercised in 2023 was 597.4p (2022: 646.2p). The Sharesave
options outstanding at 31 March 2023 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 2.0 years (2022:1.7 years) and a weighted
average contractuallife of 2.5years (2022: 2.2 years).
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31. Business combinations

Purchase of Autorama UK Limited

0On 22 June 2022, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Autorama UK Limited (‘Autorama’) for initial consideration of £150.0m,
with an additional £50.0m deferred until 22 June 2023 and settled in shares to the value of £50.0m, subject to employment and customary
performance conditions.

Autorama, one of the UK's largest marketplaces for leasing new vehicles, is a leading end-to-end digital platform, which aggregates leasing
deals frommultiple funders and OEMs (underits ‘Vanarama' brand), enabling buyers to transact online across a wide range of vehicles.

The total consideration of £150.0m excludes acquisition costs of £2.1m which were recognised within costsin the Consolidatedincome
statement. The following table provides areconciliation of the amountsincludedin the Consolidated statement of cash flows for the period:

2023

£m

Cash paid for subsidiary 150.0
Less: cashacquired (5.8)
Payment for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 144.2

As the settlement of the deferred £50.0m considerationis subject to a condition for continuing employment to 22 June 2023, the amount
isnotincludedin the business combination butis recorded as a post-acquisitionincome statement expense over the period of service, which
extends to the first anniversary of the acquisition. Acharge of £38.8m has beenrecorded in the period from acquisition to 31 March 2023.

From the period of acquisition to 31 March 2023, Autorama contributed revenue of £27.2m, and a loss of £11.2m to the Group's results.
Further analysisis withinnote 2.
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The purchase has been accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition methodin accordance with IFRS 3. The fair value
of netassets acquired was assessed and, other thaninrespect of theintangible assets andrelated deferred tax, described below,
no material adjustments from book value were made to existing assets and liabilities. The goodwill calculationis summarised below:

Fairvalue
£m
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition
Brand 47.6
Technology 13.7
Customer relationships 29
Orderbook 2.3
Deferred tax liability arising onintangible assets (16.3)
50.2
Other non-current assets
Investments 1.0
Property, plant and equipment 5.3
Intangible assets 0.4
Deferred tax asset 6.8
13.5
Currentassets
Cashand cash equivalents 5.8
Trade and otherreceivables 4.5
Inventory 0.9
Otherdebtors 0.9
121
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1.6
Deferredincome 2.3
13.9
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 4.0
Lease liabilities 0.4
4.4
Total net assets acquired 57.5
Goodwillon acquisition 92.5
Total assets acquired 150.0
Fair value of cash consideration 150.0

The brand, technology, customer relationships and order book obtained through the acquisition met the requirements to be separately
identifiable under IFRS 3. Refer to note 2 for further details on fair value techniques for valuing intangibles.

The business operates under the Vanarama brand name andis one of the UK’s longest running e-commerce brands. The asset was valued
using the Multi-period Excess Earnings Method and cross-checked using relief from royalty. Auseful economic life and obsolescence
decline period of 10 years was assumed. Revenue forecasts during this period were consistent with those described for Autoramain
note 13, before adjustment for brand obsolescence. A post-tax discount rate of 14% was applied. This discountrate is lower than that for
Autorama as a whole at the date of acquisition andreflects factorsincluding the finite brand forecast period, compared to cash flows
into perpetuity used to support the goodwill.

The technologyis Autorama’s propriety technology which helps manage a complex vehicle lease purchasing processinto a streamlined
online transaction via a customer friendly userinterface, which has been developedin-house. The asset was valued using the cost
approach specifically replacement costs and crosschecked using relief from royalty. The order bookis customer orders not yet delivered,
whichis expected tounwind.

The goodwillrecognised on acquisition principally relates to value arising fromintangible assets that are not separately identifiable
under IFRS 3. Such assets include the value of the acquired workforce (including technical experience), returning customers, supplier
relationships with funders and car manufacturers and future market growth opportunities. Customer lists have not been valued separately
onthe basis they areinseparable in their ownright from the brand. Supplier relationships are not separately valued on the basis that their
terms areinline withindustry standards of what would be typically agreed with a market participant.
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31. Business combinations continued

The valuation of the Vanarama brand name is sensitive to a change in the obsolescence rate assumption. An obsolescence profile has
beenassumed whichis considered to be arepresentative curve for a consumer assetin the absence of continued marketing spend,
showing a slow declinein the early years due to the benefit of historic spend, then decline accelerating in the middle years as consumer
brand consciousness falls, before slowingin the finalyears to reflect a slower drop of f of residual awareness. Slowing or accelerating
the assumedrate of obsolescence by one year, with all other factors beingunchanged, would increase or decrease the valuation of the
brand by £14m or £16m respectively. Residual goodwill would be adjusted by an equal and opposite amount, net of taxation. The discount
rate usedinthe brand valuationis less sensitive to change, reflecting the finite useful economic life of 10 years and the lower positive cash
flowsinthe latter years due to the obsolescence decline.

None of the acquired intangible assets or goodwillis expected to be deductible for tax purposes. A deferred tax liability has beenrecorded
onthe fair value of the intangible assets recognised, other than goodwill, measured at the substantively enacted UK rate of corporation tax
from April 2023 of 25%. This deferred tax liability has been debited against and increased the value of goodwill recognised.

Settlement of deferred considerationin relation to Blue Owl Network Limited
Inaddition, in July 2022, the deferred consideration of £8.1m was settled inrespect of the acquisition of Blue OwlNetwork Limited (‘Blue

Owl’). On 31 July 2020, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Blue Owl for consideration of £18.2m, of which £8.1m was deferred
until 31 July 2022.

32. Financialinstruments

Financial assets

2023 2022

Note £m £m

Net trade receivables (invoiced) 18 28.5 25.7
Netaccruedincome 18 38.7 34.6
Net tradereceivables (total) 18 67.2 60.3
Otherreceivables 18 0.3 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents 20 16.6 51.3
Total 84.1 m.z

Creditrisk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 March 2023
was £84.1m (2022: £111.7m). The maximum exposure to creditrisk for trade receivables and accrued income at the reporting date by
geographicregion was:

2023 2022

£m £m

UK 67.2 59.5
Ireland - 0.8
Total 67.2 60.3

The maximum exposure to creditrisk for trade receivables and accrued income at the reporting date by type of customer was:

2023 2022

£m £m

Retailers 52.7 50.6
Manufacturerand Agency 5.1 3.7
Other 53 6.0
Autorama 441 =
Total 67.2 60.3

The Group’s most significant customer accounts for £1.2m (2022: £1.2m) of net trade receivables as at 31 March 2023.
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Expected credit loss assessment

Expected creditlosses are measured using a provisioning matrix based on actual credit loss experience over the past three years and
adjusted, whenrequired, to take into account current macro-economic factors. For certain customers the Group applies experienced
creditjudgement thatis determined to be predictive of the risk of loss to assess the expected creditloss, taking into account external
ratings, financial statements and other available information. The following table provides information about the exposure to credit
riskand expected creditlosses for trade receivables and accrued income fromindividual customers as at 31 March 2023.

Grosscarrying

Expected credit amount Loss allowance
lossrate £m £€m  Credit-impaired
Accruedincome 3.7% 40.2 (1.5) No
Current 2.8% 25.4 (0.7) No
Pastdue1-30 days 8.8% 3.4 (0.3) No
Pastdue 31-60 days 27.8% 0.4 (0.1) No
Pastdue 61-90 days 83.3% 0.1 (0.1) No
More than 91days pastdue 81.1% 2.2 (1.8) No
7.7 (4.5)

At 31 March 2022, ECLs were adjusted for the macro-economic uncertainty around retailer profitability driven by used car price volatility.
Aconsistentlevel of ECLs has beenrecorded at 31 March 2023. Sensitivity analysis has been performedin assessing the expected credit
lossrate. There are no changes to the rate that are considered by the Directors to be reasonably possible, which give rise to a material
differenceinthe loss allowance.

Comparative information about the exposure to credit risk and expected credit losses for trade receivables from individual customers
as at31March 2022 is set out below:

Gross carrying

Expected credit amount  Lossallowance
lossrate £m £m  Credit-impaired
Accruedincome 3.4% 35.8 (1.2) No
Current 2.6% 23.4 (0.6) No
Pastdue1-30days 9.5% 2.1 (0.2) No
Pastdue 31-60 days 14.3% 0.7 (0.1) No
Pastdue 61-90 days 50.0% 0.2 (0.1) No
More than 91days past due 83.3% 1.8 (1.5) No

64.0 (3.7)

The Group has identified specific balances for which it has provided animpairment allowance on aline by line basis across all ledgers,
inbothyears. The allowance accountsinrespect of trade receivables are used torecord impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied
thatnorecovery of the amount owingis possible; at that point the amounts consideredirrecoverable are written off against the financial
assetdirectly.

The movementin the allowance forimpairmentinrespect of trade receivables during the year was as follows.

2023 2022
Note £m £m
At1April 18 2.5 2.9
Charged during the year 1.0 0.5
Acquired through business combinations 0.3 =
Utilised during the year (0.8) (0.9)
At 31 March 18 3.0 2.5
The movementin the allowance forimpairmentinrespect of accruedincome during the year was as follows.
2023 2022
Note £m £m
At1April 18 1.2 1.3
Charged during the year 0.5 0.1
Utilised during the year (0.2) (0.2)
At 31 March 18 1.5 1.2
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32. Financialinstruments continued
Cashand cash equivalents
The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank and financialinstitution counterparties, which are rated between P-1and P-2 based on

Moody’s ratings. The Directors do not consider deposits at these institutions to be atrisk.

Financial liabilities

2023 2022
Asperbalance Futureinterest Asperbalance Futureinterest

sheet cost Totalcashflows sheet cost  Totalcashflows

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Trade and other payables 27.9 - 27.9 17.7 = 17.7
Vehicle stocking loan 3.0 - 3.0 = - -
Borrowings (gross of debtissue costs) 58.6 - 58.6 = = =
Deferred consideration - - - 8.0 0.1 8.1
Leases 71 0.3 74 9.5 0.4 9.9
Total 96.6 0.3 96.9 35.2 0.5 35.7

Trade and other payables are as disclosed within note 21, excluding vehicle stocking loan, other taxation and social security liabilities and
deferredincome.

IFRS 7 requires the contractual future interest cost of a financial liability to be included within the above table. As disclosed in note 22 of
these Consolidated financial statements, borrowings are currently drawn under a syndicated debt arrangement and repayments can be
made atany time without penalty. As such thereis no contractual future interest cost. Interestis payable on borrowings’ drawn amounts
atarate of SONIA prevailing at the time of drawdown plus the applicable margin, which ranges from1.2% to 2.1%. Interest paid in the year
inrelationtoborrowings amounted to £3.0m (2022: £1.4m).

The Company had no derivative financial liabilities in either year. Itis not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis
could occur earlier or at significantly different amounts.

Liquidity risk

The maturity of financial liabilities based on contracted cash flows is shownin the table below. This table has been drawn up using the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Groupis obliged to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. Floating rate interest payments have been calculated using the relevantinterest rates prevailing at the
year end, where applicable.

Trade and other Vehicle Deferred
payables stocking loan Borrowings consideration Leases Total
As at31March 2023 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Due withinoneyear 27.9 3.0 1.1 - 2.5 34.5
Due withinone to two years - - - - 2.4 2.4
Due withintwo to five years - - 57.5 - 2.5 60.0
Due after more than five years - - - - - -
Total 27.9 3.0 58.6 - 7.4 96.9
Trade and other Vehicle Deferred
payables stocking loan Borrowings consideration Leases Total
As at 31 March 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Due withinone year 17.7 = = 8.1 3.0 28.8
Due withinone to two years - - - = 2.8 2.8
Due withintwo to five years - - - - 2.1 2.1
Due after more than five years - - - - 2.0 2.0
Total 17.7 = = 8.1 919 35.7

Fairvalues
The fairvalues of all financialinstruments in both years approximate to their carrying values.
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33. Netdebt

Analysis of net debt

Netdebtis calculated as totalborrowings, vehicle stocking loan and lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents. Non-cash changes
represent the effects of the recognition and subsequent amortisation of fees relating to the bank facility, changing maturity profiles,

acquisition of debt and new leases entered into during the year.

At Non-cash At
1April 2022 Cash flow changes 31March 2023
March 2023 £m £m £m £m
Debt due withinoneyear - 1.1 - 1.1
Debt due after more than one year - 54.6 2.9 57.5
Vehicle stocking loan - - 3.0 3.0
Accrued interest 0.1 (3.0) 3.2 0.3
Lease liabilities 9.5 (2.9) 0.5 71
Totaldebt and lease financing 9.6 49.8 9.6 69.0
Cashand cash equivalents (51.3) 34.7 - (16.6)
Net debt/(cash) (41.7) 84.5 9.6 52.4
Non-cash changes ondebt due after more than one year include borrowings of £4.0m which were acquired as part of the Autorama
business combination, and were subsequently repaidin July 2022.
At Non-cash At
1April 2021 Cash flow changes 31 March 2022
March 2022 £m £m £m £m
Debt due after more than one year 27.6 (30.0) 2.4 -
Accrued interest 0.3 (1.5) 1.3 0.1
Lease liabilities 7.5 (3.2) 5.2 9.5
Totaldebt and lease financing 35.4 (34.7) 8.9 9.6
Cash and cash equivalents (45.7) (5.6) = (51.3)
Netdebt/(cash) (10.3) (40.3) 8.9 (41.7)
Reconciliation of movementsin liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities
Liabilities/(Assets) Equity
Borrowings Vehicle
andaccrued  stocking Lease Share  Retained Ownshares Other
interest loan liabilities capital  earnings held reserves Total
Balance as of 1 April 2022 (1.2) = 9.5 9.5 1,332.4 (22.4) (847.0) 480.8
Changes from financing cash flows
Dividends paid to Company shareholders - = = = (77.7) = = (77.7)
Drawdown of Syndicated RCF 110.0 = = = = = = 110.0
Repayment of Syndicated RCF (50.0) - - - - - = (50.0)
Repayment of other debt (4.0) - - - - = = (4.0)
Proceeds fromloan 1.1 = = = = = = 1.1
Payment of refinancing fees (1.4) - - - - - - (1.4)
Payment of interest on borrowings (3.0) - - - - - - (3.0)
Payment of lease liabilities = = (2.9) = = = = (2.9)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation - - - (0.2) (138.6) - 0.2 (138.6)
Purchase of ownshares for treasury - - - - - (8.7) - (8.7)
Feesonrepurchase of ownshares - - - - (0.7) - - (0.7)
Proceeds fromexercise of share-basedincentives = = = = 2.0 = = 2.0
Totalchanges from financing cash flows 52.7 - (2.9) (0.2) (215.0) (8.7) 0.2 (173.9)
Other changes - liability related
Interest expense 3.1 - 0.2 = = = = 3.3
Other 4.3 3.0 0.3 = - - - 7.6
Totalliability-related other changes 7.4 3.0 0.5 - - - - 10.9
Totalequity-related other changes - - - - 272.9 51 0.5 278.5
Balance as of 31 March 2023 58.9 3.0 71 9.3 1,390.3 (26.0) (846.3) 596.3
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33. Netdebt continued

Liabilities/(Assets) Equity
Borrowings own
and accrued Lease Share Retained shares Other

interest liabilities capital earnings held reserves Total
Balance as of 1 April 2021 27.9 7.5 9.7 1,307.3 (10.7) (847.6) 4941
Changes from financing cash flows
Dividends paid to Company shareholders - = = (73.6) = = (73.6)
Repayment of Syndicated RCF (30.0) = = = = = (30.0)
Payment of interest on borrowings (1.5) - - - - - (1.5)
Payment of lease liabilities - (3.2) - - - - (3.2)
Purchase of ownshares for cancellation = = (0.2) (145.8) = 0.2 (145.8)
Purchase of ownshares for treasury - - - - (17.7) - (17.7)
Feesonrepurchase of ownshares - - - (0.8) (0.1) - (0.9)
Issue of ordinary shares - - - - - 0.2 0.2
Proceeds from exercise of share-basedincentives - - = 1.4 = = 1.4
Totalchanges from financing cash flows (31.5) (3.2) (0.2) (218.8) (17.8) 0.4 (271.1)
Other changes - liability related
Interest expense 2.4 0.2 = = = = 2.6
Other = 5.0 = = = = 5.0
Totalliability-related other changes 2.4 5.2 - - - - 7.6
Totalequity-related other changes - - - 243.9 6.1 0.2 250.2
Balance as of 31 March 2022 (1.2) 9.5 9.5 1,332.4 (22.4) (847.0) 480.8

34. Related party transactions

Dealer Auction Limited
The Group transacted the following related party transactions withits joint venture, Dealer Auction Limited, during the period.

The Group provided data services to Dealer Auctionunder alicence agreement established as part of the formation of the joint
venture in January 2019. The value of services provided to Dealer Auction was £0.6m (2022: £0.6m) and has beenrecognised within
revenue. At 31 March 2023, deferred income outstandinginrelation to the licence agreement was £8.9m (2022: £9.5m).

Other related party transactions
Key Management personnel compensation has been disclosedinnote 8.

The Group sponsors a funded defined benefit pension scheme. Details of transactions with the Wiltshire (Bristol) Limited Retirement
Benefits Scheme are setoutinnote 25.
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35. Subsidiaries and joint ventures

Subsidiaries

At 31 March 2023 the Group's subsidiaries were:

Percentage Percentage

Country of registration or Classof shares owned by the owned by the

Subsidiary undertakings incorporation Principal activity held parent Group

Auto Trader Holding Limited! England and Wales Intermediary holding Ordinary 100% 100%

company

Auto Trader Limited' England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 100%

Trader Licensing Limited' England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary - 100%

Autorama UK Limited? England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary 100% 100%

Vanarama Limited? England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary - 100%

Autorama Holding (Malta) Limited®  Malta Investment company fora Ordinary - 100%
protected cell company

Vanarama USA Inc* United States of America Dormant company Ordinary - 100%

Blue Owl Network Limited' England and Wales Finance platform Ordinary - 100%

A w N

Registered office addressis 4" Floor, 1 Tony Wilson Place, Manchester, M15 4FN.
. Registered office addressis Maylands Avenue, Hemel Hempstead, Hertfordshire, HP2 7DE.
. Registered office addressis The Landmark, Level 2, Suite, Trig L-1ljun, Qormi, Malta.
. Registered office addressis 800 Battery Ave SE, Suite 100, Atlanta, GA, 30339-5107, United States.

During the year, the Group disposed of Webzone Limited and liquidated KeeResources Limited.

Allsubsidiaries have ayear end of 31 March, apart from Vanarama Limited, which has a year end of 30 November, and Autorama Holding
(Malta) Limited and Vanarama USA Inc, which have a year end of 31 December.

Jointventures

At 31 March 2023 the Group'sinterestsinjoint ventures were:

Percentage Percentage

Country of registration or Classof shares owned by the owned by the

Jointventures incorporation Principal activity held parent Group
Dealer Auction Limited' England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 49%
Dealer Auction (Operations) Limited'"  England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary - 49%
Auto Trader Autostock Limited! England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary - 49%
Dealer Auction Services Limited' England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary - 49%

1. Registered office addressis CentralHouse, Leeds Road, Rothwell, Leeds, West Yorkshire, England, LS26 OJE.

Alljoint ventures have ayear end of 31 December.
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Company balance sheet

At 31 March 2023

2023 2022
Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Investments 3 1,427.2 1,224.9
1,427.2 1,224.9
Current assets
Debtors 4 338.1 487.6
Cashand cash equivalents 5 0.3 0.2
338.4 487.8
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 (905.5) (664.2)
Net current assets (567.1) (176.4)
Net assets 860.1 1,048.5
Capitalandreserves
Called-up share capital 9 9.3 9.5
Share premium 182.6 182.6
Ownshares held 10 (26.0) (22.4)
Capitalredemptionreserve 1.2 1.0
Retained earnings 693.0 877.8
Total equity 860.1 1,048.5

The loss for the year of the Company was £9.0m (2022: loss £3.2m). The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on

1June 2023 and authorised forissue:

Jamie Warner

Chief Financial Officer

Auto Trader Group plc
Registered number: 09439967
1June 2023
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

Capital
Share Share  Ownshares  redemption Retained Total
capital premium held reserve earnings equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 31 March 2021 9.7 182.4 (10.7) 0.8 1,100.8 1,283.0
Loss fortheyear - = = = (3.2) (3.2)
Totalcomprehensive expense, net of tax - - - - (3.2) (3.2)
Transactions with owners:
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (0.2) - - 0.2 (146.5) (146.5)
Dividends paid - - - - (73.6) (73.6)
Share-based payments - = = = 5.1 5.1
Exercise of employee share schemes - - 6.0 - (4.8) 1.2
Transfer of shares from ESOT = = 0.1 = (0.1) =
Acquisition of treasury shares - — (17.8) = = (17.8)
Issue of ordinary shares - 0.2 = = = 0.2
Taxonshare-based payments - = = = 0.1 0.1
Total transactions with ownersrecognised directly in equity (0.2) 0.2 (11.7) 0.2 (219.8) (231.3)
Balance at 31 March 2022 9.5 182.6 (22.4) 1.0 877.8 1,048.5
Loss forthe year - - - - (9.0) (9.0)
Totalcomprehensive expense, net of tax - - - - (9.0) (9.0)
Transactions with owners:
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (0.2) = = 0.2 (139.3) (139.3)
Dividends paid - = = = (77.7) (77.7)
Share-based payments - = = = 44.6 44.6
Exercise of employee share schemes - - 5.1 - (3.6) 1.5
Acquisition of treasury shares - - (8.7) - - (8.7)
Taxonshare-based payments - - = = 0.2 0.2
Totaltransactions with ownersrecognised directly in equity (0.2) - (3.6) 0.2 (175.8) (179.4)
Balance at 31 March 2023 9.3 182.6 (26.0) 1.2 693.0 860.1
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1. Accounting policies

Auto Trader Group plcis apublic limited company whichis listed on the London Stock Exchange and is domiciled and incorporated
inthe United Kingdomunder the Companies Act 2006. The Company was incorporated on13 February 2015.

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

The Company financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc have been preparedin compliance with United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ applicable in the United Kingdom and the
Republic of Ireland (‘FRS101') and the Companies Act 2006.

Inpreparing these financial statements, the Company applies recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of UK-adopted
internationalaccounting standards (‘Adopted IFRSs’), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with the Companies
Act2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS101disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS101in respect of the following disclosures:

- noseparate parentcompany cash flow statement with related notes has beenincluded;
- noseparate parent company statement of comprehensive income with related notes has beenincluded; and
- Key Management personnel compensation has notbeenincluded asecond time.

As the Group financial statementsinclude the equivalent disclosures, the Company has also taken the exemptions under FRS 101
availableinrespect of the certain disclosures required by IFRS 2 Share-Based Paymentsinrespect of group settled share-based
payments, IFRS13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ and the disclosuresrequired by IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures'.

The Company financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified for the revaluation of
certain financial assets and liabilities through profit or loss. The current year financialinformation presentedis at and for the year
ended 31 March 2023. The comparative financialinformation presentedis at and for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Company’s accounting policies are the same as those setoutin note 1to the Consolidated financial statements.

The Directors have used the going concern principle on the basis that the current profitable financial projections and facilities
of the consolidated Group will continue in operation for a period notless than12 months from the date of thisreport.

The Company financial statements have been preparedin sterling (£), whichis the functional and presentational currency of the
Company, and have beenrounded to the nearest hundred thousand (£0.1m) except where otherwise indicated.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, an entity profit and loss accountis notincluded as part of the published
Consolidated financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc. The loss for the financial period dealt within the financial statements
of the parent company was £9.0m (2022: loss of £3.2m).

Amounts paid to the Company’s auditorinrespect of the statutory audit were £200,000 (2022: £77,000). The charge was borne
by a subsidiary company and not recharged.

Estimation techniques

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise theirjudgementin the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areainvolving
ahigherdegree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements,
is the carrying value of investments.

The Group considers annually whether thereis anindicator that the carrying value of investments may have suffered animpairment,
inaccordance with the accounting policy stated. Where anindicatoris identified, the recoverable amounts of investments are
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which require the use of estimates.

Share-based payments

Share-based payment arrangementsin which the Group receives goods or services as consideration forits own equity instruments are
accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The accounting policies of such arrangements are disclosed innote 1
to the Consolidated financial statements. The fair value of services receivedinreturn for share optionsis calculated with reference to
the fairvalue of the award on the date of grant. Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo models have beenused where appropriate to calculate
the fairvalue and the Directors have therefore made estimates with regard to the inputs to these models. Estimation also arises over the
number of share awards that are expected to vest, whichis based on whether non-market conditions are expected to be met (see note 30
tothe Consolidated financial statements).

Investmentsin subsidiaries

Investmentsin subsidiaries are held at cost, less any provision forimpairment. Annually, the Directors consider whether any events

or circumstances have occurred that could indicate that the carrying amount of fixed assetinvestments may notbe recoverable. If such
circumstances do exist, a fullimpairment review is undertaken to establish whether the carrying amount exceeds the higher of netrealisable
value orvalueinuse. If thisis the case, animpairment chargeisrecorded toreduce the carrying value of the related investment.
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Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity
as adeduction from the proceeds.

Where the Group purchases its own equity share capital, the consideration paidis deducted from equity attributable to the Group's
shareholders. Where such shares are subsequently cancelled, the nominal value of the shares repurchased is deducted from share

capitaland transferred to a capitalredemption reserve. Where the Group purchases its own equity share capital to holdin treasury,
the consideration paid for the sharesis shown as own shares held within equity.

Shares held by the Employee Share Option Trust
Sharesinthe Company held by the Employee Share Option Trust (‘ESOT’) are included in the balance sheet at cost as a deduction from equity.

Taxation
UK corporation taxis provided at amounts expected to be paid or recovered using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferredtaxisrecognisedinrespect of alltemporary differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date,
where transactions or events thatresultin an obligation to pay more taxin the future or aright to pay less taxin the future have occurred
onthe balance sheetdate.

Anetdeferredtaxassetisregarded asrecoverable and therefore recognised only when, onthe basis of allevidence available,itcanbe
regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits against which to recover carried-forward tax losses and from
whichthe future reversal of underlying temporary differences can be deducted.

Deferred taxis measured at the average rates that are expected to apply in the periodsin which the temporary differences are expected
toreverse based onthe taxrates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax
ismeasured on anundiscounted basis.

Financialinstruments

Afinancialasset (unlessitis atrade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially measured at
fairvalue plus, foranitem not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition orissue.
Atradereceivable without a significant financing componentis initially measured at the transaction price.

Under IFRS 9, tradereceivablesincluding accrued income, without a significant financing component, are classified and held at amortised
cost, beinginitially measured at the transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost less any impairment loss.

The Company recognises lifetime expected creditlosses (‘ECLs’) for trade receivables and accrued income. The expected credit losses
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for any macro-economic
factors. At 31 March 2022, ECLs were adjusted for the macro-economic uncertainty around retailer profitability driven by used car price
volatility. A consistent level of ECLs has beenrecorded at 31 March 2023.

The Company assesses whether a financial assetisin default on a case by case basis whenitbecomes probable that the customeris
unlikely to payits credit obligations. The gross carrying amount of a financial assetis written off when the Company has noreasonable
expectations of recovering a financial assetinits entirety or a portion thereof. For all customers, the Company individually makes
anassessmentwithrrespectto the timing and amount of write-off based on whether thereis areasonable expectation of recovery.
The Company expects no significantrecovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written of f could stillbe
subject to enforcement activitiesin order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Ateachreporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset
is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimentalimpact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Financialliabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit and loss. A financial liability is classified as at
fairvalue through profitand loss if itis classified as held-for-trading, itis a derivative, oritis designated as such oninitial recognition and
measured at fairvalue and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities,
including trade payables, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognitionis also recognised in profit or loss.

Dividend distribution

Dividends to the Company’'s shareholders are recognised as aliability in the Company’s financial statementsin the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholdersin the case of finaldividends. Inrespect of interim dividends, these are recognised
once paid.
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued

2. Directors’ emoluments

The Company has no employees other than the Directors. Full details of the Directors’ remuneration and interests are setoutinthe
Directors’' remunerationreport on pages 80 to 93.

3. Investments in subsidiaries

2023 2022

£m £m
Atbeginning of the period 1,224.9 1,221.2
Additions - acquisition of subsidiary 150.0 =
Additions - investmentin subsidiary 10.0 =
Additions - share-based payments relating to acquisition 38.8 =
Additions - share-based payments 3.5 3.7
At end of the period 1,427.2 1,224.9

Subsidiary undertakings are disclosed within note 35 to the Consolidated financial statements. The Company directly owns shares in two
subsidiaries, Auto Trader Holding Limited and Autorama UK Limited.

The additionsinthe yearrelating to the acquisition of a subsidiary principally relate to the purchase of 100% of the share capital of Autorama
UK Limited (‘Autorama’) of £150.0m, and a furtherinvestment of £10.0m. The remaining additionsin the current and prioryearrelate to
equity-settled share-based payments granted to the employees of subsidiary companies.

Therecoverable amount of the investmentin Autorama has been determined using the methodology and assumptions disclosedinnote 13
tothe Consolidated financial statements. Thereis limited headroom between the recoverable amount and the carrying value of the Autorama
investmentin the parentcompany due to the requirement to capitalise the £38.8m share-based payment charge relating to deferred
considerationinthe parentcompany.

Noimpairmentindicators were identified for the investmentin Auto Trader Holding Limited.

4.Debtors
2023 2022
£m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 336.8 486.6
Otherreceivables 0.2 0.2
Deferred tax asset 1.1 0.8
Total 338.1 487.6

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed date of repayment. These amounts are not
expectedtobesettledinthe next12 months.

5. Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022

£m £m

Cashatbankandinhand 0.3 0.2
6. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2023 2022

£m £m

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 903.3 660.5

Accruals and deferredincome 2.2 3.7

Total 905.5 664.2

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed date of repayment.
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7. Financialinstruments

Financialinstruments utilised by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023 and the year ended 31 March 2022 may be analysed
as follows:

2023 2022
Financial assets £m £m
Financial assets measured atamortised cost 337.0 486.8

2023 2022
Financial liabilities £m £m
Financialliabilities measured at amortised cost 905.5 664.2

Current assets and liabilities

Financialinstrumentsincluded within current assets and liabilities (excluding cash and borrowings) are generally short termin nature and
accordingly their fair values approximate to their book values.

8. Dividends

Dividends declared and paid by the Company were as follows:

2023 2022
Pence Pence
pershare £m pershare £m
2022 final dividend paid 5.5 51.7 5.0 48.0
2023 interim dividend paid 2.8 26.0 2.7 25.6
8.3 77.7 7.7 73.6

The proposed finaldividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 of 5.6p per share, totalling £51.4m, is subject to approval by shareholders
atthe Annual General Meeting ('AGM’) and hence has not beenincluded as aliability in the financial statements.

The 2022 finaldividend paid on 23 September 2022 was £51.7m. The 2023 interim dividend paid on 27 January 2023 was £26.0m.

The Directors’ policy with regard to future dividendsis set outin the Financialreview on page 25.

9. Called-up share capital

2023 2022

Number Amount Number Amount
Share capital ‘000 £m ‘000 £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 1ip each
At1April 946,893 9.5 969,024 9.7
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (23,831) (0.2) (22,198) (0.2)
Issue of shares 13 - 67 =
Total 923,075 9.3 946,893 9.5

Inthe year ended 31 March 2017, the Company commenced a share buyback programme. By resolutions passed at the 2021 AGM,

the Company’s shareholders generally authorised the Company to make market purchases of up to 96,678,535 of its ordinary shares,
subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions. In the year ended 31 March 2023, a total of 25,261,584 ordinary shares of £0.01were
purchased. The average price paid was 582.1p with a total consideration paid (inclusive of fees of £0.7m) of £148.0m. Of all shares
purchased, 1,430,372 were held in treasury with 23,831,212 being cancelled. In the year ended 31 March 2023,12,893 ordinary shares were
issued for the settlement of share-based payments.

Included within sharesinissue at 31 March 2023 are 340,196 (2022: 358,158) shares held by the ESOT and 4,371,505 (2022: 3,826,928) shares
heldintreasury, as detailedinnote 27.
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10. Own shares held
ESOT shares Treasury

reserve shares Total
Ownshares held - £m £m £m £m
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2021 (0.5) (10.2) (10.7)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 0.1 = 0.1
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - (17.8) (17.8)
Share-basedincentives = 6.0 6.0
Own shares held as at 31 March 2022 (0.4) (22.0) (22.4)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - (8.7) (8.7)
Share-basedincentives - 5.1 5.1
Own shares held as at 31 March 2023 (0.4) (25.6) (26.0)
Total
ESOT shares Treasury number of
reserve shares ownshares
Ownshares held - number Number of shares Number of shares held
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2021 404,653 2,422,659 2,827,312
Transfer of shares from ESOT (46,495) = (46,495)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury = 2,718,193 2,718,193
Share-basedincentives exercisedin the year - (1,313,924) (1,313,924)
Own shares held as at 31 March 2022 358,158 3,826,928 4,185,086
Transfer of shares from ESOT (17,962) - (17,962)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury = 1,430,372 1,430,372
Share-basedincentives exercisedin the year - (885,795) (885,795)
Own sshares held as at 31 March 2023 340,196 4,371,505 4,711,701

11. Related parties

During the year,amanagement charge of £5.9m (2022: £4.9m) was received from Auto Trader Limited inrespect of services rendered.

Attheyearend, balances outstanding with other Group undertakings were £336.8m and £903.3m respectively for debtors and creditors

(2022: £486.6m and £660.5m) as set outinnotes 4 and 6.

12. Contingent liability - financial guarantee

During the year, the Company became a financial guarantor for the arrangement between Autorama UK Limited and its vehicle stocking
loan provider, Lombard North Central PLC. As at 31 March 2023, the maximum amount the Company would be required to pay if called

uponis £3.6m, plusinterest.
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

£m £m £m £m £m

Trade 427.4 388.3 225.2 324.3 304.6
Consumer Services 34.5 B 26.6 28.3 28.0
Manufacturer and Agency 1.1 1.1 1.0 16.3 22.5
Autorama 27.2 - - - -
Revenue 500.2 432.7 262.8 368.9 3551
Operating costs (225.1) (132.0) (104.0) (113.2) (112.3)
Share of profit fromjoint ventures 2.5 2.9 2.4 312 0.9
Operating profit 277.6 303.6 161.2 258.9 243.7
Netinterestexpense (3.1) (2.6) (3.8) (7.4) (10.2)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 19.1 = = = 8.7
Profit before taxation 293.6 301.0 157.4 251.5 242.2
Taxation (59.7) (56.3) (29.6) (46.4) (44.5)
Profit after taxation 233.9 2447 127.8 205.1 197.7
Net assets/(liabilities) 527.3 472.5 458.7 141.6 59.0
Netbankdebt/(cash)(gross bank debtless cash) 43.4 (51.3) (15.7) 275.4 307.1
Cash generated from operations 327.4 328.1 152.9 265.5 258.5
Basic EPS (pence) 25.0 25.6 13.2 22.2 21.0
Diluted EPS (pence) 24.8 25.6 13.2 221 20.9
Dividends declared per share (pence) 8.4 8.2 5.0 2.4 6.7
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